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1 IJil T HI:: \SUPREME COURT OF BRITI SH COLUMBIA 

-· 
(He ard in t h e County Co ur t of Cariboo 
pursuant to s. 23 of the Count y Court Act) 

BE1' WEEN: 

Al'1'fLER CONSTRUCTI ON LTD. 

PLAI NTI FF , 

AND: 

SY KOVACHICH and SY KOVACHICH 
HOLDINGS 

DEFENDANTS 

AND: 

D. C . DENNIS ENGINEERlNG LTD. 
and D. C. DENNIS 
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THI RD 
) 

PARTIES) 

Vic t or Curtis , 8sq ; 

Dick Byl, Esq ; and Suzanne Jac ks on; 

Place anct da tes of tr ia l: 

REASONS FOR J UDGMENT 

OF 

THE HONOURABLE JU DGE PERHY 

for the p lai n ti ff 

for the defenda n ts 

Hea rd on Sep te mber 
17 , 1 8, 19, 20, an d 2 1, 1 9 8 4 
at Pr ince George , B. c . 

'I'h is ac ti on was bro ught by th e plain ti ff , Antler 

Construction Ltd ., a contr a ctor, ("Antl er ") aga inst tne defend an ts 

to r e cove r a baiance o f $84,092.38 claim ed to be due for work done 

and ma terials supp li ed in 19 '/ 8 in th e in stal la t io n o f wa te r and 

sani t a ry and s to r m sewe rs to service 48 lots for t he fi r st phase 

o f a re siden t i al s ubdivis ion on l and s owned by t h e corpor at e 
, 

d e f endant in the Blackbur n road a r ea in t h e city of Pr ince George . 

At t he t ria l t he plainti ff's c laim was reduced to 
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$8 1 ,33 6 . 88 by ded u~ ti on from i ts p l eaded cla im of one item 

of $25 28 and a second item of $272 . 50 . In particulars which 

i t had s upplied to the defen dants , Antl e r a ll ege d that it had 

been req u i red t o rep l ace 10 i nc h s t orm sewer p i pe by 18 i nch 

pipe by reason o f a design c han ge t hereby inc u rri ng extra 

cos t s of $2528 fo r that i tem . 'fhe plaintiff 's p rincipal 

witne s s , Mr. Joru1 Knu tt s on, tes tif i ed to thi s effect on 
I 

examination-in - chief . As the res ult o f c r oss - exam in at ion by 

Mr . Byl, howeve r, i t was shown by other evidence t hat the plaintiff 

coul d no t have insta l led t he 18 inch p i pe as i t ha d alleged , and 

t hat the p l ain t i ff's claim fo r s uc h ex t r a was unf ound ed . The 

se con d item o f $272 .50 in respect of cer t a in di e se l fu el wa s 

withdrawn at tr i al for want o f adequ at e proof . 

Notwithst a nding the defe nd a nt s' den ia l in their 

s t atement of defence o f any l iab ility to the p l aint i ff , Mr. Kovachich , 

on behalf of bo th defendants, at t ri al admi t ted l iabi li t y in 

respect o f va r i o u s items of t he claim to ge th er amoun ting to 

$46,142 . 36, t hu s l eaving in dispu t e items in the pla in ti ff' s 

c la im which tota l the sum of $3 5 ,194. 52 . 

Th e def~1da n ts ad mit lia bility in sa id sum of $46,142 

f or the cost of certain mat e rial s pa i d f or by the p laintiff and 

for ha uli ng and ha ndlin g , and for renta l of certain of the plaint i f f's 

eq uipmen t use d by t he defenda n ts a fte r the p lai ntiff l ef t t he 

26 • job on Ju ne 6 , 19 78, wi th the co ncurre nce o f Mr. Kova chic h . 

27 Th e c laims i n d is pute fall int o th ree bro ad ca te go ries. 

2~ F irs t l y , in re ga r d to som e items, the defend ants' obje c tion is 

generally to the corre ct ness of t he plai n t i f f's char ge s. 

3ll 
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Second l y, t he de f endants deny liability for charges 

totalling $15,869.64, being the total amount charged by the 

p l aintiff for 10 pe r cent on the cost of materials it ordered, 

supplied, and hauled to the project, p lus 10 per cen t for profit. 

Under this di sputed head, the issue is whether, as the pla i ntiff 

allege s, and t he defe ndants deny, Mr . Kovachich orall y agreed 

to pay thes e charg!=s. 

Thirdly, there is a disputed c l a i m of $11,125.69 fo r 

extras . The plai nt iff contractor says that its tender to instal 

the ut ili t i es was based upon plans furnished by Mr. Kovac h ich. 

Part way through the projec t, revisi ons were made in the design 

of the underground u tilities . The plaintif f a l leges that it 

incurred the extra costs claimed in respect of the sanitary 

s e wer because i t had to dig deeper than the original depth ' 

zones st i pulated on the ori gi na l p lans, and because it ha d to 

orde r larger pipe for the storm sewe r. The defendants contend 

that no e xtra charges incurred by reason of design changes 

should be attributed to the defendan t s. They say that the 

plai ntiff undertook the work on the bas is of prel iminary pla ns , 

when it knew, or should have known t hat the plans had not be e n 

approved for construction by the c i ty of Prince George. The 

plai nti ff ' s answer to this co n t e ntion is that Mr. Kovachich 

invited it to tender when he or his eng ine er knew that the pla n s 

had n ot been approved and took t he risk that design changes mi ght 

well be made during the course of construction . In my judgment, 
, 

th e pla in tiff's contention in this regard must prevail. In d eed, 

in final argument, de fe ndants' counsel had no submission to make 
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on this point , and I do not ·regard it as an issue requir in g fu r t her 

comment . The serious points in rega r d to this claim are that the 

p laintiff d id not: bill t he defen da nt for these extra charges until 

October , 1982, over four years a f t er the pla intiff finished its 

work on the pr oject, and as to proof of t he claim. 

From the ad mi tt ed amount of $46 , 142.36 the defendan ts 

claim a deduct i on by way of s~t-o ff of $29,6 09 . 82 for ext r a gra vel 

allegedly req ui red to be bo ught and placed by the defendants on 

t he subdivis i on after the uti li ties had been in stal le d . The 

defe ndants con t end that they had to bear this exp ense because 

t:he plaintiff neglige n t l y or in breach of cont nac t , fa i led t o 

i nsta l the sanitary sewer p i pes deep enou gh and t hereby fai l ed 

to provide suf ficient protect i ve cover f or the ut il ity pipes. The 

plaintiff denies this al l egat i on . Ant ler says that it excavated 

i n accordance wit h the depth requirem en ts of the plans provided 

to i t by t he defe ndants, and further says that i t had no 

r e sponsibility under its contract to supply any gravel. 

The fi na l position wi th respe c t t o these admissio ns 

and competing cla i ms therefore is t hat even i f the defendants ' 

demand fo r a set-o ff o f $29,609 . 82 sho u ld be allowed , and a ll 

the i tems totalling $35 , 194 . 52 in disp u te be decide d i n the 

defendan t s' favou r , the pla in t i ff contrac tor would be enti tle d 

to judg ment f or t he admitte d amount of $16,532.54 at a l l events. 

An applica ti on made by t:he p l ai n t iff du ri ng th e trial 

wa s a llowed amending t he style o f cause to desig nate the 
, 

ind ividual de f enda nt by h is precisely proper name of Savo Kovachic h . 

He maintai n s that any liability res t s not upon him bu t so l e l y upon 
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the corporate defendant . This is sue a rises in re spons e to 

the conten t ion raised by the pla i ntif f at trial that it co nt racted 

to do the work wi th Mr. Kovachich personal ly. The lat ter says, 

in e ffe ct, that i n th e making o f t he contract, and in t he whol e 

co urse o f his dealings with Antler he was at all time s acting 

as an of fi cer or d ir ector of t he co rpo r ate defendant on whos e 

beha l f he co n tracted mere l y as its agent to th e knowl edge of the 
' 

plaint i ff. 

It appears t hat Mr . Kovac hich was not unfamili ar with 

the co nc ept of carryin g on bus in ess and dealing with supp li ers 

on behalf of a corporation. He is 62 years of age . He was born 

in Yugoslavia but he has liv ed in Cana da since 1948 and i s a 

Canadian citizen . Fr om t he year 1966 he was t he owner and manager 

o f a la rge and successful poultry fa rm in t he Prince George area 

which he conduc ted as a propr i eto rshi p for five yea rs. In 1971 

he i ncorpo r ated hi s business under the name of Tabor Lak e Pou ltry 

Farm s Ltd. On behal f of that company he dea l t with supp l i e rs and 

negotia t ed cont r acts for the s a le of eggs. In 1978 he sold th e 

poultry company f or $400,000 . In 197 6 he pu rc hased the land s 

i nv olved in t h is l itigation . Although another man and an 

e sta te which Mr. Kovachic h administered, he ld some undef in ed 

intere st in th e lan d s, it se ems cl ear on his evi dence t hat he 

was th e domin an t owne r and t reated with i t a ccordingly . He 

te s tif i ed that in 1976 he de cided to crea te t he su bdivision. 

He caused the co r porate defendant, Sy Kovach ic h Holdings Ltd., 

to be i nco r pora t ed as a lim it ed' l i abil ity company. The precis e 

date of its incor pora t i on was not disclos ed in evid ence bu t it 
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appears to be acknowledged that by the time Antler was first 

engaged by th e defendan t in early 1978 , the company was in 

existence an d had be come t he r eg istered owner of the lands 

co mpris in g th e subdivision . There is no ev idence of the 

objects fo r which the co mpany was formed. 

In 1976 he received advice from his then solic i tor, and 

he clearly understood , tha t he was re qui re d by the c ity of 
I 

Pr i nce George t o first obtain a la nd -us e contrac t, to be 

fu r n ish ed to and approved by the c it y, and registered i n t he 

Land Title Off ic e before he coul d legally commence co ns tr uctio n 

of his pro posed subdivision; and that de t a il ed eng in eer i ng 

drawings had to be pro v ided by him or by his engi neer on 

the owner's be half, and be app r oved by the city be fore co mmencement 

o f the work. He admitted to knowing tha t it was poss i ble that t he 

city mi gh t well re quire cha nges and revis i on s to t he initial p l ans 

bef ore giving t hem f inal approval. 

Cle ar ly th ere was considera b le delay in th e approva l 

pro cess f or the land -use con t rac t whic h had been submitted by 

his sol icitor. The evidence shows t hat it was no t approved by 

the city and f il ed i n t he Lan d Titl e Office unti l Apri l 20 , 1978 , 

and that Mr . Kovac h ich was so i nfo rmed by l etter f r om h i s sol icitor 

da te d Apri l 26 , 197 8 (Ex . 21) . 

In May, 1977, Mr. Kovachich re t ained D. C. Den n i s 

Engin eeri ng Ltd . to desi gn the civ il eng in eer i ng works for 

the pr opose d su bd ivision an d to pr ovide the necess ar y de sig n 

drawi ng s for t he project . His 'dealings were wit h Mr. D. c . 

Dennis, a profess ion al en g in eer, who was the principal office r 
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and di r ector o f the consulti ng engi nee rs firm. The engineers 

under t ook th e work. It seems clear t ha t t he prepa ra ti on of 

t he plan s was time-cons~~ing . 

The set of p lans comprise seven sheets of drawi ngs 

under number 076065, sub-n umbers 01 to 08. She e t (),1 is th e si te 

plan and it is da ted Augus t 6 , 1977 . The r ·emaining sheets 

02 t o 08 all bear da t e of November or December 1977 indi cating 
I 

the completion date o f each drawing . The word "Prelimi nary " is 

pro minen t ly displaye d by a ru bbe r stamp in block le tt ers in th e 

lower righ t ha nd port io n of eac h s heet. There i s evidence to 

show th a t this word means t hat th e plans bearing i t hav e not 

been approved f or construction by th e city of fici als of th e 

eng ineerin g depar t ment . 

The land had a natural slope to t he south-east, and 

acc ordi ng to the prelim in ary p lans, the street s and sewers were 

designe d t hereon to drain to t he sou t h-east corner of t he property . 

Mr. Curtis as ked Kovachich on cros s -exam ina tion whet her or not 

he was aware of t he natu r a l south-easte r l y slope of the land. 

Mr. Kovachich gave an evas iv e repl y. My conclu sion is th a t 

he did know o f th i s natural grade ; that he dete rmin ed t ha t 

i t would be less expensive t o desi gn th e streets and uti l it i e s 

to follow it, and t hat he ins tr uct ed Mr. Dennis to prepare t he 

plan s according l y . We do not have th e evidence of Mr. Dennis 

but I th ink i t i s a f air a ssumpt ion th a t so l ong as the proposal 

did not v iolate good engineering practic e , of which there is 

no evidence, he woul d conduct lh mself i n harmony wi th the v i ews 

of hi s empl oyer. 
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The preliminary plans (Ex. 2) and t he "as-bui lt " 

plans (Ex , 3) were admitted into ev id ence at t he outset of t he 

t ria l on co nsent o f co unsels f or th e p l a i ntiff and the defe nda nt s. 

The defen da n ts j oined D. C. Dennis Engineering Ltd. and 

D. C. Dennis as t hird parties. On August 31 , 1984, on appli cat io n 

by counsel fo r t he third pa rt ies, t he Honourable J udge Harding e 

or dered t hat t he th ird party p r ocee d i ng s be t ri ed s epar atel y 

from the pr esent act i on . On the opening of t h i s tr ial counsel for 

the plaintiff and defenda n t acco r ding l y s t ated t hat the submissions 

woul d be confined t o the issues between the plaintiff and the 

de f endants, leaving any co ntest between the def en dants and the 

t hi rd parties to be determ in ed at a l ater date . •rhis judgment 

deal s on l y wit h t he issues between t he plain tif f and t he 

defen da n ts. 

Mr. Kovachich next hire d McWil l i arn Whyte Goble & 

Assoc iat e s, a f i rm of B. c. land su rvey or s , to do t he surveyin g 

and layou t work for t he pr oposed su bdivision . He contracted with 

t he surveyo rs at t he time of, or short l y af te r , a meeting held in 

Ja nuary, 19 78 , attended by Mr. Kovac hich , Mr . Dennis, and Mr. 

Victor Bart e l l, a lan d surveyor and partner in the s urv eying 

f ir m. The pr eliminary p l ans (Ex . 2) we r e pr od uced to Mr . 

Ba.rtell by Kovach i ch or Denn is a t t hat tim e . 

The f i rst phase of the s urveyors' fu nc t io n was to survey 

and produce a plan estab li shing the l ot lin es , loca te the streets, 

and lay out the water and sa n i tary and st or m sewer l i nes , inc l udi ng 

• a l l connect i ons, and the curbs, and gutters and s treet lighting. 

In Febr uary , 1978, the surve yo rs commenced t he work by fi r s t la y i.ng 
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out t he street alig nment s, which they did in ac cordance with 

t he plans prov ided to t hem. 

In Apri l, 197 8 , Mr. Kovach i ch i n st ructed the survey ors 

to ca rry out th e lay out for th e water and sewer lines. This 

work invo lves the surveyor set ti ng out g rad e stakes i n the 

gr ound at intervals , off set cer ta in d ista nces fr om the po int 

where the uti l i t y li ne s are tp be installed . The offse t s ta kes 

i ndicate the reo n the dept h t o which the co nt ractor is requ ire d 

t o ex cava t e. 

I n t he ca s e of the s anitary sewer inst a llations, t he 

depth , as shown on t he surveyor's s ta kes, as take n from t he 

plans (Ex. 2), i s obt ai ned by t he use of a la ser beam whereby 

the geo detic elevat ion is scient i fical l y tran s fer red down i n to 

t he ditch t o the invert o f the pipe where the laser is set . 

The grade setti ng is d ialled on the laser and the contractor's 

man op e ra ting the ' excavating machine follo ws the las er beam . 

I t is not i n dispute t hat th is is an exact method fo r instal ling 

san itary sewer pipe at t he pro per depth and to th e grade as 

in d ic ated on t he su r veyor st akes. 

Such was th e sys t em f o l l owed on th is pr oject . The 

contractor gets h is inf orm ati on fro m th e surveyor's s takes 

whi ch bear the i nf or mation ob t ain ed by t he survey or f rom th e 

plan s. Thus th e contractor i s required t o do its work i n 

accor danc e with i n formation as to depth and grad e conve ye d 

to t he con t ractor by agents of t he employer . 
, 

The surveyors compl eted the l ayout work i n February , 

1978 . In t he same mont h Mr. Kovachich t hen con tr ac te d wi t h 
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Ant le r to carry ou t th e firs t s t age of the ac tual work on the 

project which was to do the ear thworks for the excavatio n and 

grading of the streets . He had bee n referred to Antler by an 

acquaintance, Mr. Sta n Bach ins ki, a gravel and excavating con t ractor, 

who had for merly worked for Antler . Kovachich negotiated for 

the contrac t with Mr. Mike Church, an of f icer and manager of 

Antler , who exami ne d the plans (Ex. 2) before making a pro posal 
• 

to Kovachich. An agreement was reached whereby Antler woul d 

do the earthworks on t he basis of an ho u rly ra t e f or the 

suppl y of l abou r and mach i nes . 

.Antler commenced work under this earthworks contract 

on February 20, 1978 , and completed it later in the same mont h. 

Mr. Kovachich admits that i n carryi ng out the earthworks, Antl er 

had excav a t ed to t he depth as shown on the plans (Ex. 2). No 

c l aim s ar i sing out of thi s f i rst contract are brought i nto 

issue in this case. In due course the plaintiff ren dere d its 

first i nvo ic e which covers the ear t hworks carried out by Antler 

in Feb ruar y. Thi s invoice (Ex. 1 tab 2) is da t ed April 21, 1978 

and is made out to "Mr. Sy Kovachich , Giscome Road, Pri nc e George, 

B. C." , and is in th e amount of $6,416.25. It was paid by means 

of a cheque bear in g the printed name of the co r porate defendant , 

"Sy Kovachich Holdings Ltd . " at t he top of the cheque and also 

at the bottom just above a line f or the signa tu re of the drawe r . 

•r he cheque is da t ed May 8, 1978. 

Pri or to May 8, 1978, a second contract was entered 

i nto with Antler for th e instailation of th e water, storm, and 

sanitary sewer pipes. I t is this second contract which giv es 
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r i se to the dispu ted issues between the pa r t ies in this 

l itigation. 

I n about mid April, 1978, Mr. Kovach ich, attended at 

Antler ' s o f fi ce in Pri nce George fo r the purpose of as kin g Antl er 

to quote a pric€ for th e excavation and installatio n beneath 

t he st r eets of the main tr unk lines for water sanitary and 

s to rm sewer utilit ie s. He was accompanied by Mr. Bach i nsk i. 
I 

The evidence shows that he had a l ready contracted separately 

wi th Bachinski to do all t he work necessary for the installat ion 

of the connections of t he trunk lines to each i ndiv idual property 

l ine in the subdivision, and to provide the sand bedding for 

the utility pipes. The making of these arrangements impe ls the 

inference t hat Mr. Kovachich was resolved to negotiate a 

contract for th e mai n trunk lines without delay , on the basis 

o f the unapproved prel imi nary plans, and t ake the r i sk that 

approval would soon be fo rthcoming. 

'!'he contract was partly writt .en and partly oral. 

Save for some inconclusive testimony given by Mr. Bachinski, 

the ev i dence of the circumstances surrounding the maki ng of 

the contract emanates solely from Mr . Kovachich and Mr . John 

Knuttson . Mr. Knuttson was Antler's project manager and 

vice-pres ident. He has ~n impressive background in the construction 

i ndustry particularly in the ins ta l latio n of utilities mostly for 

public bod i es in many subdivisi ons t hroughou t B. C. He was 

wel l-in formed as to p ipe requirements generally and in relation 

to suitability f or various soi! class i fications. He was familiar 
' 

with the condi t ions in the Blackburn area having been Antl er 's 
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project manager when Antler had earlier installed the water 

system in that area. The Kovachich subdivision was to connect 

wit h the main Blackburn sys t em which was a city controlled 

utility. 

The evidence o f Knuttson and Kovachich as to the 

contract negotiations is co n fl icting. 

Knuttson's evidence , is t o the f ollowing effect. In 

mid April , 1978,Kovachich came in to Antler's office, accompanied 

by Bachinski. Knuttson had not met Kovach ich before this time. 

Mr . Church came into the o ffice par t way through the meeting, 

but d i d not become in volved in t he discussion. Kovachich 

asked Knuttson if Antl e r would be interested in doing the 

water, sanitary, and storm sewer lines. Kovach ic h said that 

he wou ld see to ge tting all t he necessary approva ls. He had 

hired Mr . Denn i s as his engineer and said that Dennis would 

be responsible fo r p l ans, approval s, and inspections. The 

McWil liam, Whyte & Goble firm of s urveyors wou l d do a ll the 

necessary layo u t work and Kovachich would contact them . 

Bachinski was to put in th e service connections. Kovachich 

sa id t hat he want ed to get started on the p ro je ct as quickly 

as possi bl e beca u se he wanted to get t he subdivision lots on 

the market. Knuttson to ld him that they wou ld have to make 

an immediate start as Antler had other projects in B. C. to 

which t hey were commit ted as o f the beginn ing o f Jun e , by which 

t i me or sooner the road restr ict ions for heavy equ i pment would 
, 

be lifted to enab l e Ant l er to get their equipment to other jobs . 

Kovachich was to be the genera l contractor. He said he would 
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be on s it e daily. At th is first meeting Kovachich sai d that he 

had been checking into the pricing of pipes. He had discover ed 

that there was a pr ic e war on at the time among s upplie rs. He 

had obtain ed a number of price quotations . For th ese reasons 

Kovachich proposed that he wou l d order and buy all t he materials 

and pay for hau l ing them to the jo b site. Knutts on concurre d , 

but made it c l ear tha t on t ha
1
t ar rangement Antler would not 

in vo l ve i t self in si gni n g fo r anythi ng on th e owner's behalf. 

At th is time, Kovachic h prov id ed Knuttson with the plans (Ex. 2) . 

The latter said t hat he wou ld examine them and get back to Kovachic h 

with a pr ice quotation . He asked Mr. Kovach i ch to whom he 

shoul d give the quo tation to which t he rep l y was: "s end it to me" . 

Knuttson asked f or his address and Kovachich told hi m it was 

G.i..scome Road, Pr ince George, B . C. The meeting then ended . 

Mr. Knuttson then inspected the site and saw that the 

st reets had been excavated to a subgrade an d provided drainage to 

th e south - east corner of the prope r ty . He then dete rmined the 

number and kind of pipes and fittings that would be required and 

got q uotes for materials from supp l iers. He exp l ained that this 

was necessa ry , eve n though Antler was no t buying t he ma t erials , 

because la bour costs were related to pipe sizes and types. He 

24 t hen prepared a l etter containing a q uotation in wr i ting, setting 

25 Antler ' s price at $7 per linear foot for ea ch unit of work . 

26 , Mr. Knuttson testified t ha t th ere was t hen a s econd 

27 meeting at which time he gave Mr . Kovachich the let ter dated 

~$ April 20 , 1978 (Ex . 1 tab 1 ) which reads, i n full, as fol l ows : 

30 
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ANTLER CONSTRUCTION CO. LTD. 

Apri l 20 , 1978 
Fil e : Sy Kovachich 

Mr. Sy Kovach i ch 
Giscome Road 
Princ e George, B.C. 

Atte ntion; Mr. Sy Kovach i ch 

Dear Sir : 

Re: Subdivision - 48 Ldts - Blackbu r n Road 

Ant l er Con struct i on Co . Ltd . will perform t he fol l owi ng 
work on the above me n t i oned subd i vision . 

(A) Install'approximate l y 2380 ' l in ear feet of 8" P.v.c. 
S.D.R . 35 sanitary sewer p i pe complete wit h tie in 
and manholes for the unit price of $7.00 per l i near 
foot. 

(B) Install approximately 1 560 l inear feet of 10" P.V.C. 
S.D.R. 35 storm sewer pipe complete with manholes 
and excavate approximately 300 l inear feet of drainage 
ditch at the unit pr i ce of $7.00 per linear foot. 

(C) Install approxima t e l y 2200 li near fee t of 6 " A.C. Class 
150 water main comp l ete with hydrants , fit ting s , and 
thrust blocks for the unit price of $7 . 00 per linear 
foot. 

1. 

2 . 

3 . 

4 . 

5 . 

6 . 

The above men tioned pr i ces are based on the fol l owing : 

All materia l s required to be to the owners account . 

All pe r mits , inspec ti ons, approvals etc. to the owners 
account . 

Materials to be supplied by O¼~er to the jobs i te . 

Payment to be per linear foot measured in the field . 

Payment to be made upon compl et ion of the above ment i one d 
wor k . 

All engineering required to be to the owners account . 
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7. Drawings - D - 76065 02 
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Yours truly 
AN'I'LER CONS TRUCTION CO . LTD. 

John Knutsson 
Pro j ect Manage r 

JK/rnh 

-

Revision ·A 
Revision A 

After reading the le tte r ; Mr. Kovachich told Knuttson 

to go ahead with the job, thereby accepting Antler's pro posa l . I t 

1~as agreed at that time that Antler should start on t he j ob 

about the beg i nn in g of May. 

On Knuttson's evidence there was a third mee t i n g 

whi ch took place a day or two lat e r. 'f he r e was c6ns i de r ab le 

discussion about pi pes. I t wa s appare n t that Mr. Kovachich 

lacked t he necess a ry know l edge to order t he materials and 

a sked Knut t son to do so. Knu ttson stat e d that Antler woul d 

select, order, hau l , and o ff - l oad all the mater i als requir e d 

for the job on t he basis that Ant l er should be pa id 10 per cen t 

of the cost of t he materials, f or handli n g and 10 per cent fo r 

profit. Knuttson denied Mr. Byl's sug gestion put to him during 

c r oss-examination that he never said t his . Ques t i ons 49 t o 52 

fr om h is e xami n at i on for discovery were then pu t to h i m. 

49Q. When wa s t he nex t mee t i ng be tw ee n Antler and Mr. Kovach i ch? 

A. In ear l y Apr il of 1978. ('.!. Were you present ? A. Yes: 

Q. And who e l se was pr e s ent? A. Mr. Church. Q. Anyon e El s e? 

A . No . 
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Asked to comment on these answers , Knuttson made i t 

perfectly clear t hat he was th e re referring to the firs t mee ting . 

This appears fr om a rea din g of t he preceding ques t ions. On 

that basi s he adde d that Bac hi ns k i was a lso pr e sent . 

Cross - e xamine d as to his recollection of these meetings, 

Mr . Knutts on agre ed tha t wa s a lon g tim e a go , and that he c ou ld 

not remem ber e very word said. He t hen stat e d that when he had 
' spoken of the 10 plus 10 condition to Mr. Kovach ic h he did not 

ac t ually rep l y t ha t he would pa y 10 plus 10 . Then Mr . Byl put to 

Knuttson his answe rs to h i s d i scovery qu e stions 2 53 and 254 a.s 

follows to show tha t at tr ial he gave di ff eren t testim on y on this 

important point. "Q . So by "ten and ten" you mean t en per cen t 

ove rhe a d, ten per cent for pro f it ? A. That i s right . Q. And 

wha t did Mr . Kov a ch ich say to t hat? A. He s ai d tha t i s fin e , 

it would st ill be cheaper t han if we h ired D.C. Dennis to do the 

work; ' " This clarified Knutt son 's recollection of wha t Kovachich 

had said, and I t h in k i t mus t b e treat ed as evidence put in through 

defen dant's counsel which binds t he def en dant . The i nconsistency 

goe s only t o credibility. I bear it in mind on that basis but I 

po in t ou t that during argum en t Mr . Byl t ook t he posit ion t hat Mr. 

Knuttson was a credib l e witnes s . 

Knuttso n further t esti fied th at: (1 ) i n regard to 

payment of a ll t he work, Kovach i ch said "se nd the bills to me"; 

(2) Kovach i c h did not tel l h im that the corporate d e fendan t 

was de ve l opin g t he land; ( 3) did not te ll him that the p lans 

ha d not yet been approved by the city . The version g iv en in 

evidence by Mr. Kova chi ch of t hese matters is muc h di f f eren t. 
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Acco rding t o him, thei: e was only on e meeting at whic h materials 

were discu ssed. I t was held in early April p rior to April 20, 

1978. 

He and Knuttson and Bachinski were p resent. He had 

not met Knut t son before this time . Churc h showed up during t he 

meeting . Kova chich pr oduced t he plans t o Knuttson . He looked at 

them and within two hours t <?ld Kovachich t hat the pr ice woul d be 

$7 per fo ot . He thinks that Knuttson s aid t hey ha d no jo bs 

at present and \•:ante d to keep t heir men busy.. He tolid Knu tt so n 

there was a pri ce wa r on for pipes . He had phoned a sup plier 

the day befo re. Knuttson sa id "you'r e giving us th is jo b and 

we will pu r c hase the material cheaper than you can buy it". 

To this Kovachich repl ied to Knu ttson: " If yo u can buy t he pipe 

cheaper th an me I'll appre ciat e i t." He thinks Knuttson sai d OK 

or something to that effe ct. On dir ec t evidence he said to Knuttson 

that he knew nothing about material , p lans , or survey in g an d 

would be glad to have people l ike them t o help him. He te sti fi es 

that he told Knut tson t ha t the c i t y had not yeb approved ' the plan s 

as far as he knew , an d th at it would be up to Knutt.son an d Dennis 

t o dec id e when they woul d s tart on the subd ivision . He testifies 

t ha t Knut tson sa id that he would phone Dennis and that th ey wou ld 

work togethe r. He admi ts that he to ld Knuttso n that he wanted 

t he j ob to s tart as soon as possibl e . He says that the subject 

of the orde ring of the materia l s was discussed b ecause Knutt.son 

has S:aid th a t he could get t hem at a cheaper pri ce. His unders t andi 
, 

of the matter was that he realized he woul d have t o pay for the 

hau li ng of the mate r ials to th e job s it e . He denies (1) that 
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there was any d i scussion ab ou t d iff erent ki nds of pipe; (2) that 

he t old Knut tson that he ha d no knowledge of p i pe and materials; 

(3 ) th at th e re was any di scussion what ev er about An tler chargin g 

10 plus 10 per ce nt for or dering , pay in g for , and ha uling of the 

mate ria l s . Knuttson said nothin g to him abou t overhead or profit , 

and he had no knowledge of any such trade prac t ice in th e con stuc t ion 

indus try. He says that his company name was no t d is cussed but 

t hat he did tell Knuttson t hat th e co mpany was t he ovmer o f the 

land. He sai d that he di d no t receiv e the "quote" le tt er of 

Apr il 20, 1978 (Ex. 1 tab 1) un t i l about ten days afte r t he meetin g ; 

t hat he r ec eived it th r ou gh t he mai l and tha t no cop y of it was 

handed to him personally at any time by Knutt son. At one stage 

during his direc t exam i nat i on, Mr . Kovachich said that a t the 

Fe bruary meeting (i.e. when t he first co nt ra ct wi t h Antle r for 

the ear th works was negot i ated) Knuttson told him that Antler could 

ins t a l the water, sanitary, and sewer systems for $7 per f oot for 

each unit . He furt he r t estified t ha t a t t he February meeting he 

sa i d t ha t he wan ted this work done as soon as possib l e and t hat 

Antle r was a l so anxi ous t o make an ea r ly start . 

Cross examined , he was con f ronted wi th the lett er 

(Ex. l tab 1). He said he read i t, but i nterp reted t he provisio n 

in regard t o mater i als to mean t ha t he was t o be re s ponsible f or 

pay i ng onl y t he hauling charges. He said that the firs t mat er i a l s 

arrived on th e s it e on Apri l 24, 1978, and he knew that t hey had 

been hau l ed there by Ant l er . He acknowledged t ha t he knew that 

An tler had been orde ring and fiauli ng a l l mate ri a l s t hat arrived 

at the j ob s i t e f rom April 24, th rough August , 197 8. In h is 
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ev idence he ex press ed the opinion tha t t his did not r eally involve 

much work on Ant l er's part. He said: "all you have to do is t e ll 

the supplier what you wan t . It 's the s ame thing · as p ickin g up 

t he phone and order in g a loa d of chicken fee d". He admitte d that 

he said to Knu t tson, in ref erence to Antler's in vo i ces f or a ll their 

charges "Send t he bills to me and I ' 11 pay fo r t hem." 

I will now deal wi th the first issue. The question is 

whether the defendant Savo Kovachic h in ne gotiating the ag reement 

with the plai n t i f f was merely acting as agent for th e defe ndan t 

Sy Kovach i ch Holdings Ltd. and if so, whether the plaintiff knew 

he was so acting. 

The duty on the, ldefendant in cases of this descr i pti on 

is to give notice to t he plaintiff in c lear term s that i t was 

de a l ing with a •li mited company. Mr. Kovachich seeks to discha r ge 

th a t duty firs tly by re li ance on eviden ce t ha t payment made to 

Antl er of two in vo ices by means of two sep arat e corporate cheques 

i ssued May 8, 1978 for $ 6,416. 25 a nd the second for $7 6 .25 7 .6 1 

issued June 15 , 197 8, by Sy Kovachich Hold in gs Ltd. in the form 

I have earl i er desc r i be d. Secondly, he submi t s that since Mr . 

22 Knuttson carefully examined the pla ns bea r ing the corpora t e name 

23 it ought to have been apparent to hi m that the corporate entity 

24 was the owner o f the lands an d t hat Antler was contra cting with 

25 and extending credit to t ha t corp orate e n t i t y. 

26 , In that regard Knuttso n' s evidence is t o th e effect 

27 t hat he d id no t pa y close attent ion to t ha t particular part of 

28 the pla ns, and really gave no' thought to t he mat te r o f the precise 

ident i t y of the owne r of the land . I do not accep t the ev idenc e 

30 
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of Mr. Kovachich that he told Knuttson the Kovachich Hold i ngs 

Ltd. was the owner of the land . 

At the time of the negotiations involv ing the f irs t 

contract for the earthworks in February, 1978, Mr. Kovac hi ch 

dealt with Mr. Church. I find that Mr. Kovachich was mistake n 

when he said, in one part of his evidence, that he had a discussion 

with Mr. Knuttson in F'eb n1ary. Be t ha t as it may, there is no 
I 

evidence that Kovachich gave any notice, clear or otherwise, to 

Church of the existence of Sy Kovach ic h Hol d in gs Ltd .. Kovach ic h 

said that t he plans were on the wall in his house when he was 

negotiating the mat t er with Mr. Chur ch . There is no evidence that 

the corporate name came to Church's notice or that i t was drawn 

to his attention. 

After Antler had performed the earthworks contract in 

February at the request of Mr. Kovachich it submitted its invoice 

(Ex. 1 tab 2) dated April 21, 1978, for $6,416 . 25, addressed to 

Mr. Kovachich pe.rsonally. On Mr. Knuttson's evidence that he met 

with Mr. Kovachic h at least three times on and after April 20, 

1978, th e fair inference is that Mr. Kov ac hich was in receipt of 

that invoice during the time that he was negotiating the second 

contract for t he installation of the utilities wit h Knutts on . 

Ant l er's written tender (Ex. 1 tab 1) is dated April 20, 197 8 

and is addressed to Sy Kovachich. In other words the contractor 

made an offer to him pers onal ly to carry out the utility installatior 

works on the t erms there in stipulated . Mr . Kovachich persona l ly 

accepted that offer without s'ayi ng that he did so on behalf of 

his company. Mr. Kovac hich testifies that he did not receive 
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th a t tender, or a cop~ thereof , by per sonal delive r y f r om 

Mr. Knuttson, but got it in the mai l about t en days la t er . I 

prefer and a c cept the evidenc e of Mr . Knu tt s on on this po i nt. 

The inference I dr a w is tha t Kovac h i ch had th e written off e r 

add r essed to h im at the t i me of his acceptance . 

Antler commenc e d to work i nsta lling the utili ti es on 

Apri l 27 , 1978. I f in d that prior to tha t time Mr. Kovac h ich, 

as he admits , told Knuttso n to hqve Antler send al l t he i r bills 

to him pe r so n ally and that he would pay for t hem. An tl er ' s 

second invoi ce fo r $5 , 962 . 06 for ma t erials dated May 3 1 , 1978 

a nd i ts t hird invoice dated Jun e 1, 1978 f or $76 , 25 7. 61 (vlhich 

i ncl ud es the May 31st inv oic e) wer e bot h addressed and se n t to 

Mr . Sy Kovachich, Gis c ome Road , Pr i nce Geor ge , B.C . These latte r 

t wo i nvoices were pai d by a Sy Kovach i ch Hol d i ngs Lt d . c heque 

dated Ju n e 15, 19 78 for $76,257.61 . 

There is evi denc e t o s how t hat Antler t hough t it was 

deal in g wi th Mr. Kovach i ch, not wi th h is corporate e n t i t y. The 

contractor invoiced him upo n comp l etion o f t he first contract in 

Feb r uary showing t hat t he name of t he accoun t in t he ir r eco r ds 

was tha t of Mr . Kovach i ch . He paid i t wit h a c ompany cheque . 

Mr . By l does not argue that t he che que provide d n otic e to Antl er 

tha t it had been extending cred it t o a lim ited li ab i l i ty c ompany . 

Even if t hat co ul d be sa i d, the fact i s that when Antl er entered 

in t o t he second contract, Knuttson made a spec i f i c po i nt of asking 

Mr . Kovac h ich who was t o pay the bi l ls unde r that cont r act . The 

latter adm i ts t h at he to ld Knuttson to send the bills to him and 

that he wou l d pay them. At t hat time, and earl i e r, when he accept ed 
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Antler's offer wi t ho ut qua lifi cation , he s houl d hav e take n t he 

opportun i ty t o make it cle ar tha t his und erta king t o pay the bi ll s, 

and his acceptance of the of.fer, were not in t ended t o bind h im 

per so nally . 

The invo i ces thereafte r were all se nt and con t i nued t o 

be sent to Mr . Kovac h ich despi te the f act that eac h payment was 

made by a corpo r at e cheque. In t hese circumstances th e infe r ence 

must be t ha t Mr. Kovachich knew tha t th e pla inti ff did not have 

notice by me a n s of th e c heques th a t it was extendi ng credit to the 

co r porate defendant. 

Paymen t on accou n t by mean s of cheques fr om Sy Kova c hich 

Hol dings Ltd. i s not, of itself, sufficie n t n oti c e to the pla i ntiff 

that i t was d eali ng with a limi ted co mpa ny: see Gelhorn Mot o r s 

Lt d. v . Yee and Wilcox (1970) 71 lv. 11. R . 526 . As Sydney S'mi th, 

J . A. said in Holl and v . Saltair Bea c h Re sor t s Lt d. (1 951) 

l W. lv. R . (N . S.) 816 at p . 818 : "The ch eq ues d i d n ot nece s sa rily 

me an much . If Hollan d had been pa i d with ba n k drafts , he ne ed 

no t conc lude that the bank was h i s employer ." 

It is certai n ly no t unusual f or corporate of f icers to 

arrange to have t he ir per s onal de bts paid by means of corporate 

ch eques. 

The add iti on al fa ct that the company nam e was on the 

pl ans doe s not i n my judgment afford much assistance to Mr . Kov achich . 

'!' he du ty of th e alleged agent i s t o communicate and t hat duty is 

not discharged by l eavin g i t t o t he other co ntra ctin g party to quess 

as t o t he ident i ty o f the pa rt y to whom he i s asked to extend cr ed it . 

I t does not necessarily follow fr om the bare fa ct that th e company ' s 
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name appea r s on the pla ns even when combi n ed wi t h the issuance of 

company cheques, that Antler knew or shoul d have known that i t was 

being employed py the company thro ugh an agent. Knutt so n te s tifies 

that he paid scan t at t enti on t o t he name . I accept this. I f 

he carefu l ly examined that part o f th e plans bearing the company 

name he woul d also have no t iced that those plans bear dates o f 

August thro ugh December, 1977. Even i f Knuttson had given any 
I 

close thought to the fact that the plans he handled in Apri l, 

1978, had the name Sy Kovach ich Holdings Ltd. on t hem, it woul d 

not nece ss arily follow that suc h corporation was then t he owner 

of t he lands , or eve n i f it were, t ha t it , and not Mr. Kovachich, 

was deve l oping the l a nd. 

The in voices of Septem be r 12 and October 31, 1978 were 

not paid, and Antler made effo r ts to collec t t hem. Knuttson 

telephoned to Kovac h ich . 'rhen Antler wrote a let t er to him da t ed 

November 30 , 1978, signed by Mr. Knutts o n (Ex . 1 tab Ba) as f ollows: 

"Mr. Sy Kovachich 
R. R. lfl Giscome Road 
Prince George, B. C. 

At t ention : Mr. Sy Kovac hi c h 

Dear Sy: 

November 30, 197 8 
Fi le: Kovachich 

Re: Your Subdivision Blackburn Road 

Is there a reason yo u have not paid Antl er Construction 
for the materials and work performed as in voiced to you in 
connection with the above mentioned project. 

We show invo ice s tota ll ing $70,438 .6 9 as being due . 
Wou ld you plea se l,et me know if there is a prob l em 

in this rega r d. 
Yours tru ly , 

ANTLER CONSTRUC'l'I ON L'l'D. 
John Knuttson 
Project Manager" 
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Mr. Kovachich received that le tte r. His eviden ce in this 

co nnection was unsatisfactory. On dir ect exa mination he said he 

d i d no t discuss the a cco un t s with Knu tt son be ca use Antler failed 

to t e st the san ita ry s ewer . The r e is n o ev ide nce t ha t he gav e 

that exp lan ation at the ti me . Nor i s the re any evidence t hat Antler 

did fai l t o carry out the test . Cros s-exami ned, he changed this 

evidence, statin g tha t he be;Li eves he did discuss th e accoun ts with 

Knutt s on , but does not now know if he to ld Knut tson he would no t 

pay t h em. I find that he made no pr otest about t he accounts in 

respo nse to Antler's collec t ion efforts , or as to t he fac t that the 

l ett er was addressed to him personally and t ha t the proj ec t was 

th ere in described as "your subdivisio n ". 

Durin g t he winter of 1978-79, probably in early Fe br uary, 

1979 , Knu tt so n and Church went t o t he home of Kova chich t o conf ro nt 

him personally abo ut t he ignor ed unpaid accounts. It ha ppened t ha t 

aachinski was with Kov achi ch a t the time. It a ppe ar s that th ey 

had been drinking. l do not t hink t h i s i s significant. At t imes 

20 the di s cussion b ecame somew hat he ated, but it was quite deta il e d, 

2 1 and it is not su gg ested t ha t t he facu l ties of Mr . Kovachich were 

22 impaired or affected . 

23 For the purp o ses o f the is sue of th e identity of the 

24 party with whom Antler had e n t ered into th e contr ac t, it is on ly 

25 necessary to refe r to this mee tin g t o point out that Mr . Kovachi ch 

26 , d i d not , a t any time during t he meet i ng , take the posi t ion t hat 

27 the bills and col l ec tion let ·t e r sho u ld n ot ha ve bee n sen t to him 

' persona l ly . In my judgme nt, he cou ld hard l y have fa iled to know , 

in li g h t o f the foreg oing evid ence, th at Ant l er rega rded him, and 

30 
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not the company, as the person with whom Antler had contracted. 

I n fact , there is no evidence tha t Kovachich disavowed 

persona l respo ns ibi l ity a t any time prior to the f ilin g of 

the defence in t his li ti gation. 

Mr. Savo Kovachich has not discharged the burden of 

proof on hi m to show that he was act in g as an agent o f the corporate 

defendant. He did not designate h i mself as enter in g into the contract 
' 

with Antl: .er on beha lf of the comapny or as an officer or manage r 

representing the company . There is no eviden ce that at any t ime 

the plaint iff elected to treat the company as principal. The 

fac t t hat the payme n ts which were made were by means o f company 

c heques , and that the company 's n ame wa s on the pl ans, falls short 

of adequate and c l ear communicatio n by Kovach i ch to Ant le r t hat 

the company was t he contracting party. On a ll the evidence on this 

issu e it mus t be in fer red, and I d o in fe r, that Mr . Savo Kovachic h 

wa s contracting in h is pe rso nal capacity. I ho ld th.: ,t t h e lia bili ty 

to th e plainti ff , Antler, is his personal li ab il ity and not that of 

the corporate defendant . 

I turn now t o t he i ss u e created by Antler's charges 

t otalling $15,896.64 for 10 p l us 1 0 per cent on the materials . 

Mr. Koyachich tes tifie s that material s were discu ssed at 

the first meeting in Apr il , 19 78, but nowhere in his evidence does 

he refer to any subsequent meet i ng . I prefer the evide nce of Mr. 

Knuttson as to this, and find that th e negotiatio n s leading to t he 

f inal contract were carried on over three separate meeting s i n 

Ant l er' s office. 

The conclusion I reach on the evide nce is that by th e date 
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of the i nitial mee tin g on or about Apri l 20, 1978 , Mr. Kovach i ch 

was acting as his own ge ne ral contracto r . He had made a separat e 

contract wi t h Bachinski for the serv i ce co nnections . He had been 

maki ng his own i nquiries ab out the price of pipe s. It s eems clear 

that he intended to se l ec t, and order the materials h imself , perhaps 

with the a i d of h i s engi n eer . He had prepared a list of materials. 

At t he f ir st meetipg Kovachich proposed or stated to Knuttso : 

that he would himself take charge of or dering t he materia ls. At 

that stage he felt hims el f to b e competent to do this. Acc or d ing 

to his own ev id ence it appear .s tha t he held t he op inio n t hat t he 

orde ri ng o f mate ri als di d not amount to much and req uir ed no spec i a l 

expertise . Anyone could do it . As he put it , i t really amou n ted 

to n o more than p i cking ,up the t elepho n e and ordering a l oad of 

chicken feed . On this basis , the i nference is that he had decided 

to undertake this task , not only because he thought he cou ld qu it e 

easily manage it , but a l s o because he f elt he could save money by 

doing so. He would not have to pay Antler to do it . Knut t so n 

ap pa r ently was prepared t o go a l ong wi th th i s, bu t l i ke l y with 

some unexp r essed res .ervations . 

The fir s t meeting concluded. Knuttso n exam i n ed t he plans 

and depths and othe r s pecifica t ions shown thereon . He then prepared 

the quote (Ex. l) on t he fa i th of those prelim i nary p l ans, and on 

t he foo tin g t hat Kovac hi ch wou ld se l ect and o r der and pay for the 

materia l s and do a ll a nc illary things in co nnec t io n therewith. 

It is no t in disp u te t hat both parties at t ached the same meaning 
, 

to c ondit i ons land 3 of t he doc ument, n ame l y , that it was the 

ovmer ' s r e sponsbility to bu y the materials and to cause them to be 



I • 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

IS 

17 

18 

19 

20 

2 1 

23 

24 

25 

26 

28 

30 

- 27 -

delivered to the job site. The contractor's obligations un d er 

exh ibit 1 were con fine d to excavating, and to installing the 

pipe s complete with manholes f o r the sewers and fittings for 

the water main. 

Kovachich accepted t he offer and it remained only for 

the job to st a rt under that arrangement . The part ies were in 

agreement that it should s t art as soon as possible. This mean t 
I 

that the materia l s should be ordered and brough t on si te wi thout 

delay. 

What next happened can only be explained on th e basis t hat 

Mr. Kova chich commenced to harbour som e misgivings about his ,, , 

ability to underta k e the task of ta kin g cha r ge of al l matter s 

rega r ding the materia ls. At some stage he produce d h is l ist of 

p ipes and p r ices to Knu ttson. The latter's evidence is t o the 

effect that the lis t was incom plete and of no real value. He and 

Kovachich discussed the ma tter of pipes and I th in k that i t was 

at th is t ime that it dawned on Mr . Kovac hich that he had undertaken 

to tackle a job that was beyond him, and it was then that he said 

t hat he really kn ew nothing about materia l s, plans , or surv e ying, 

and would be glad of Antler ' s hel p , no t wi t hsta nding that during 

cross-examination he denied saying this. 

There can be no doubt t hat either by words or c onduct 

Kovachich agreed to an additi on of the wr ·itten document whereby 

Antler would order, pay f or, hau l and unl oad t he ma t eria l , and 

this is in accord with what act ua lly happe n ed with the know le dge 

and exp r ess or i mp l ied consent of Kovachich. I accept Knuttson's 

ev i dence that a l l of this required t he kind o f knowledge and 
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experien ce possessed by Knuttson and a co nsi derab l e expendit u re 

o f his time, much of it at night. 

Alth ough the evidence of Mr. Kovachich on this matter 

is inc onsis t ent within its e l f , it does appear that he concedes 

that the writ ten document (Ex . 1 tab 1) does not contain all 

t he te rms to which the par ti es agreed . He testifies t ha t he 

understood that he would have to pay for the hauling of the materials 
l 

to the job s i te and he admits liability for reimbursement to Antler 

for the purch ase price of materials . He must have orally agreed 

to these terms duri ng his discussions with Knuttson, yet he does 

n ot, in his ev i dence, refer to any meeting at which these te rm s 

were agreed upon. As opposed t o this, he further states that he 

expected Antler to do all things in connection with t he materials 

for nothing. 

Mr. Kovachich asserts more than once that at the f i r st 

mee ti ng there was no d isc ussion about 10 plus 10 per cent for 

mater ials. I n t h is, he is correct. Knuttson does not say t hat 

the discussion on this topic took place at t he first meeting. At 

that meetin g the arrangement was that Mr. Kovachich would select, 

order, and buy a l l the materials. But Mr. Kovachich refrains f r om 

referring to an y subseq uent meet i ngs , and I s uspect this is a 

del i berate omission. I t fits in with his ev i de nce that he did not 

receive or see the bid letter o f Apri l 20, 1 978 (Ex. l tab 1) 

26 • un ti l ten days or so af ter he f irst met with Knu ttson. This 

27 

30 

enables h i m to take the po in t that if th e re had been an agreement 

for 10 plus 10, as a lleged by knutt son, i t ought to appear in 

writing in the l e tter . 
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Mr. Byl acknowledges that it is probably s tand ar d 

practice in the co nstruction industry for a contractor to charge 

10 per cent fo r handl ing and 10 pe r cent f or profit. Kovachich 

denies paying Bachinski a handling charge but the evidence shows 

that such a charge is added to th e i nvo ices received by him from 

Bac hinski. 

In deciding be t ween witnesses the co urt sho uld take 
I 

int o account the probabilities material to an estimate of th e 

evidence. In my view the probability is tha t Knutt son orally 

agreed to take care of a l l matters relating to the materials on l y 

on t he condition that it would rece ive a standard 10 per ce nt plus 

10 per cent in accordance wit h the acknowledged custom in the industry. 

It i s not likely that he would commit Antler to do all this for 

no t hing. 

Mr. Byl submits that Knuttson's ev id ence is a 

reconstruc t i on of what he thinks too k place about seven years 

ago ra the r than the product of a true recollection. I do not 

agree. Firstly, there i s a written r ecord of the matter. The 

invoice of September 12, 1978 (Ex . 6a item 9) includes a charge 

of $14,500 for handli ng and profit for materials. The invoice 

of Octo ber 31, 1978 (Ex.l tab 7) includes a charge of $717 . 18 for 

10 pe r cent on mater i als and 10 per cent for profit. Mr. Kovachich 

did not prote st these charges either when he rece i ved the account s 

or the co llec t io n letter. Secondly, Mr. Kovachich test i f i es that 

at the meet ing in his home in February, 1979, the issue of 10 plus 

10 was discussed . He ob je cted to it on th at occasion for th e first 

time. 
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Mr. Byl fur ther submits that on this question an 

adverse inference should be drawn against th e plaintiff f or its 

fai lure to call Mr. Church as a witness, pre s umably on the bas i s 

tha t he would not have helped the plaintiff's case if he gave 

evidence. 

Mr. Church was not present at the trial. No person was 

asked to explain his absence. The matter was not raised until 
I 

a rgum ent. It is argued for the defendant that h i s absence is to 

be accoun ted for by th e fact that his evidence woul d not su pport 

the plaintiff's case. Dependin g upon t he circumstances it i s open 

to the trier of fac t to draw an inference. On t his issue the 

case for t he plaintiff is that the parties orally agreed to the 

markup of 10 plus 10 percent in t he course of discussion at 

Antl er's office . Kovachich denies that any such agreement was made . 

In my v i ew this adverse inference doctrine should not be invoked 

in th i s ins tance . A proper foundation for its application is 

lacking. Ther e is no aff irma t i ve evidence to show that Mr. Church 

took any part in the negotiations, important or otherwise, in 

the discussion and negot iations leading up to the alleged oral 

ag r eement and Knuttson was not cross-examined on th e po i nt. 

Finally, no reason is shown why the de fend ant could not have called 

Church had he deemend it desirable to do so. 

It was not argued by defendant's counsel that a ll terms 

2o • were settled by the written document. It is conceded that 

27 
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t he wri tte n document does not embody all the terms of the 

agreement. 
, 

The problem has o f course arisen for want of some 
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subseq uent writing, however simple, evidencing the oral addition 

to t he wr itten documen t. By one part of the ora l arra nge me nts the 

defendant ' s position was enh anced by being rel i eved of th e obligation 

to order and pay for the materials. By t he other pa rt, the pl a inti ff 

wou l d receive compensatio n for its t ime and t ro uble. Neither 

co unse l advanc ed arg ument see ki ng to place respo n s i b i lity on either 

pa r t y for fa ili ng to commit t he oral pa rt of the contract t o writing . 
• I 

Having given th e matte r t he most anxious consid e ration, 

I find myself reasonably sa t isf i ed on the totality of t he ev idence, 

and on t he probabi li t ies mater ia l to an assessment o f the con fl ic ti ng 

evidence, that t he plaintiff has prov ed to t he degree req ui re d that 

the co ntract be tween the parties did contain a term providing for 

a hand l i ng char ge of 10 per cent and 10 per cent p rofi t for materials 

to be paid by the defendan t Kovach i ch to t he plaintiff , and I so 

find. As shown by the evidence above related, Mr . Knuttson entered 

into considerabl e de ta il of the meetings at whic h t he iss ue was 

disc ussed and recited words us ed by both parti es. There is an air 

of r ea li ty to h i s narration . On the other hand , Mr. Kovach ich is 

fa r less exact . Hi s evide nce is of a l e ss convincing quality . He 

simply denies t ha t the matter o f 10 pl us 10 was ever mentioned or 

disc ussed. I n the totali t y o f t he circumstances I fee l satisfied 

that thi s is i nherently un li ke l y . 

Antler commenced work under the contract on April 27, 

1978 . By that da t e, the de f endant 's su r veyo rs had laid out the 

lines for th e water mains . Mr. Knuttson says that he had been abl e 

to purchase the p i pe s at pric e s earlier quoted to him, des p ite 

escala t ing pr ices at t he t i me he o rd ere d t hem fo r the Kovac hic h 
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subdivision . Some were ordered locally and some fro m Vancouver 

supp li ers . 

Al t hough Knuttso n ha d got the project under way by ordering 

materials , he was not perso nal ly in char g e of Ant l er's work at the 

s i t,e itself, alt hou gh he did visit the site periodically. The 

supe r intendent was Mr. Ron Jobson . Mr. Orville McKee was the 

on-site f orema n who was res ,Ponsi b le for s uperv ision of the work. 

Both Mr . Jobson and Mr. McKee were d e ceased at the time th i s 

litigation began. 

It appears that Mr. Knuttson was on site to observe that 

t he surveyors had set their stakes for t he water line . His un­

challenged evidence is that city r egulations at t he time in que s t i on 

called f or water lines to be buried unde r ground to a depth of 

th ree metres to prov ide that depth of protec t ive aov.e r plus sand 

bedding, after being covered with backfill, gravel and street 

pavement, following th eir placement in the underground trench . 

Therefore Antl e r did not, and was not, r equired to excavate to th e 

"regulation" dept h , but only to the depth shown on the surveyor's 

stakes. This method app li ed f or each of the three u tilities with 

some quali f ication in respect of the viater mains. I n th e case of 

23 the sanitary sewer, as above mentioned, th e dug depth is that which 

24 is transferred do~m to the las e r beam . 

25 The unre f u t ed evidence of Knuttson i s that in each 

2r1 , in stance Antler excavated acco r d ing to the information sh own on the 

27 surveyor stakes in accordance with the proc edure sanction ed by 

28 the de f end ant's surveyor and 'eng in.eer. 

The plans provided to the s urveyors and to Antler required 

3U 
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3 metres dept h for the water lines and 2 metr es f or th e sanitary 

and storm sewers r espect ively . 

While work on t he water lin e was in progress , an inspec tor 

from the city's engin eering department, Mr. Dale McTaggart, made 

inspections at t he site. Ther e is no ev iden ce of any complai nt 

f r om him as t o Antler's work or that t hey were in breach o f any 

i nstructions from th e city or of specif i cations sho wn on the plans . 
I 

The city's concern was th at the work had been sta r ted bef ore the 

preli mi nary p l ans had been ap p~ove d for construction by the ci ty. 

Mr. Victor Bartell is a pa rt ne r in the land su rveyors 

f i rm engaged by Mr. Kovachich to do t he la yout wor k . Ca l led as a 

witness by the plain t iff, he s a i d t ha t he knew th a t t he preli minary 

plans were not appr oved for construction , an d that it is not unusu al 

for land develo pers to start on a project pr ior to t he plans being 

officially approved . In exp laining the pro ceed ure he f ollo wed on 

t he Kovach i ch pro j ect , he stated that t he surveyors set out stakes 

ever y 15 metres a'nd mar k t hem to ind icate to the contractor t he 

dep th th a t t he contracto r is required t o d i g. In the case of t he 

sanitary sewer the g rade is s e t out onl y for the f irst pipe and 

therea f te r the oper ator of the machine uses th e laser beam . 

In test ifyi ng as to t he pr oc edure f ollowed on t he projec t 

Mr. Knuttson said, when he was re f err ing to t he surveyor's stakes 

for the water - main, th a t "we were give n a dug dept h, not a finis hed 

26 , dep th". I i nfe r f rom hi s evide nce , co mbined with th e evidence of 

27 

28 

a 
JU 

Mr. Bart e l l , t hat t he surve yor sta ke which was set out for the f irst 

sanitary sewe r p ipe also gave a "d ug dept h " , not a finis hed depth . 

The water line was finished on May 15, 1978 and about hal f 
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of t he service connections had also be e n ins talled by Bachinski . 

It appears that while work on the water-main installa tio n 

was in progress discuss i ons were being he l d between th e city engineer 

with his officials and Mr . Dennis and Mr. Kovachich as to a proposed 

change in desi gn . 

Mr. Dale McTaggart , an inspector from the city's engineering 

departmen t , testified that h7 made periodic ins pect ions at t he site. 

The city's concern was that the work ha.d been start ed b e fore t he 

p relimin ary plan s had bee n approved for construction, in breach 

of the city by-law. Mr . McTaggart , called by the pl a i nt iff , testified 

that on May 3, 1978, the dity had sent t he plans back fo r correc t i on . , 

and resubmiss ion. 

The ev i de n ce shows that a plan re vision was ordered by 

the c i ty which re qui red that t h e p l a n cover i ng the sanitary sewer 

should be redesigned so that it woul d dra i n out at the nort h side 

of the proper ty i nste ad of t he south s ide . I do not k now whether 

th is was the reason t hat the city returned t he pla ns for co rre cti on . 

There was some su gg estion in the evidence, but no proo f, th at t he 

reason fo r the plan change involved th e existe nc e of an easement 

b et wee n l ots 1 6 and 17. The point is no t material in t h e present 

case. I mention it because Mr. Kovachich state d duri ng the trial 

tha t he wa nted this court to decide wh ic h of Ant l er or th e third 

parties we re respons i b l e for wha t he cal l ed "mistakes" in th e 

pl a n s. As Antler had nothin g to do with the preparat i on of the 

p lans, this cour t is not c alled upon to decide that question . I t 

' i s a matter between him and t he thi rd par t ies. In regar d to this 

to pi c, however, I would observe that so far as Mr. Kovachich conte n ds 
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t hat An tler was a t f aul t for alle ged l y fa i l i ng t o co nsu l t wi t h 

Denn i s befo re pr oce ed i ng with i ts work , I f i nd no meri t in th is 

con t en t i on. I t wa s not a c ondi t io n o f his co ntr ac t with Antler 

t ha t t he l a t te r mus t consu lt wi th Denn is Engi nee r in g be f ore commencing 

to work unde r the cont r ac t. 

Nei t he r th e city no r Mr . Kovach i ch nor Dennis Engi ne e ri ng 

orde r ed Antl er t o sto p wor k on the insta ll at i on of t he wate r lin e . 
I 

In due cou r se t he wat er li ne as in sta l le d by 1, nt le r re ce i ved 

approva l and Ant ler 's wor k r emained in t act wi tho u t ch anges, and was 

a sat i s fac t or y jo b . 

I f i nd on McTagga r t ' s evi denc e t ha t on May 15 , 197 8, 

Ant ler ' s men we r e sett in g ou t t he sa n i ta r y sewe r pip e . 

On Knut t so n' s ev i dence I find .th at on May 16 a t th e s i t e, 

Mr . Kovachic h inf o rmed Knut ts on t hat a r evise d desig n wou l d be 

fo r t hc oming whereby t he sa ni tary s ewer would now d r ain ou t t he no r t h 

s ide , and fo r t h i s r ea son An t l er woul d have to wa i t for t he rev is ed 

d raw in g s t o be made availab l e so t ha t th e sur veyo r cou ld l ayou t t he 

lin e . No s i gni f i cant changes were bein g made to t he water- l i ne . 

The r e i s no evid ence t hat Knu t t so n made any r epl y t o 

Kovac h i ch on r eceiv in g t h is in f ormatio n . On h i s ev id ence I i n f e r 

tha t he a l ready knew, or at l ea st, was re a son ab ly certain , that t he 

pending cha nge wou l d involve re lo cati on of the s an it a r y sewer l i ne . 

My imp res s i on was tha t th e in formation d id not cau se h i m muc h 

sup ri s e. It evo ked no ve r bal or ot he r rea c t io n f rom hi m. In my 

vi ew this woul d hav e been an opport une and app ,Jopr ia te time f o r hi m 

to d is cus s wi th Kovac h ich a c hange in t he co n t r ac t pri ce f or 

in stal l in g t he sanitary sewer l i ne . 
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Accordin g to McTaggar t's ev i d e nce, Ant ler moved a 

backhoe down to t he north-east corner on May 17. It appear s t ha t 

by th is time An tler had rece i ved the surv eyo r's grade sh ee ts, 

thereby apprisi ng Knuttson of what t he re design would in vo l ve . 

At the time when Antler was r eady to start ins tal l ing 

t he sanitary sewer, the existin g si t uation was that the r oad g rade s 

had been made according to p7ofi le p l an 07 of the original plans 

(Ex. 2) . The stree ts had been excavated to f ollow the natura l 

grade o f t he lan d s l op in g sout h-east . The water line had been 

insta lled according to that p l an. 

The rev i s i on invo l ved a chang e of route f or th e sanitary 

and s torm sewers . Sheet 08 of revision Don Ex. 6 shows the 

eas t and west road surfaces s l op ing genera ll y from s outh to nort h . 

This re loc at ion mean t that Antler would start the sa nitary 

sewe r ins tallation from a dif fere nt loc at i on t han was o r igina ll y 

prescr ibed. Ins t ead of starting from t he south end Antler woul d 

s t ar t from the north end. I f in d no evidence t ha t Antl er had 

got s t ar t ed a t t he so u th end . The evid e nce in dicates that by 

it se lf th is asp e ct o f th e matte r d i d n ot constitute a change of 

much s i gn i f i cance . Antl er simply had t o s t art c l eari ng land fo r 

a r ight-o f- way at the north end by way o f preparatory work t o 

enable the surveyors to lay ou t t he line. Some bus h had t o be 

cleared and t he ground levelled. I would have considered that 

t his part of the work sho u ld be c l a ss ed as nec essar i ly a ncillary 

work to the job t ha t An t le r , on Apr il 20 , 197 8 , had contrac te d to 

perform, bu t t he po int was not' ar gued . 

Becau se t he d irectio n of the g r avit y flow of t he sew er 
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line was reversed, i t was nece s sary for Antl e r to correct the 

road alignment and regrade the streets . This , in turn, chang ed 

t he depth of the sanitary sewer , according to the revised p l an 

(Ex. 6), at various poi n ts along the line. 

A brie f discu ssion took place one day between Mr . Kovachich 

a nd Mr. Knuttson at the site of the new star ting point when the 

Antler crew was clearing bush . Knu tt son now t es ti f ies that it 

must have been obvious to Kovachich that t he roads were being 

rea ligned. It appears that Kovachich made some inquiry about the 

necessity for Antler ' s big 235 backhoe f or wha t appeared to h i m 

to be bush clearing . Not h ing was sa id by eit he r man on t he question 

whether this or any later work would result in ex tra charges to 

Kovach ic h. I am not pr epared to draw an inference fr om this 

i nc ident t ha t Kovach ich must have realised that a change in contract 

pri ce was inten d ed . 

Und er the re v ision no va ri at i on of any kind was ordered 

to c han ge the size of pipe for t he sanitary sewer. Thus the 

revis ion d id not entail any expenditure of Mr. Knut ts on's time on 

tha t account . 

Cha nges in the si ze s of t he storm sew er p i pe s did, 

however, involve him in spen di ng time t o reorder such pipe t o 

comply with these cha ng es . The orders c ame from Mr. Kovach i ch 

or h is a gents with a fr eque nc y which was no doubt exasperating. 

Ei g h t inc h p i pe was f irs t o rde r ed, th en some 10 inc h, t hen 15, 

th en 12, and f"i.nally some 18 inch pipe . I find that Knutt son did 

orde r these var i ous sizes as eech change was made, bu t the only 

pipe which actually arri ved on si te was the 10 in ch pipe and the 



I • 

2 

3 

4 

5 

(i 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

(, 

17 

IX 

19 

20 

'.!I 

22 

23 

24 

25 

27 

28 

9 

30 

• 
- 38 -

final order of 18 i nch pi pe . The latter had been ordered by Knutt so n 

but it did no t actually arrive on sit e until August or September, 

about two months a f te r Antl er had left th e j ob. It was ins talled 

by Bac h inski f or t he owner . 

The grades for the storm sewe r system had no t been 

changed . Mr. Knuttso n testi f ies tha t the new de pth specificat i ons 

f or the sanitary sewer required Antler to put i ts larger back hoe 
I 

(a 235) in t o s e rv i ce. Al so the manholes would be dee per and t wo 

or t hree drop manhol es had to be acqu ired. They had to be benched 

out in steps i n orde r to meet Workers ' Compe nsa tion Board 

r equ ireme nt s . 

Work on t he sanitar y sewer start ed on May 17. Antler 

has no rec ord of when i t was fini shed but I fin d on other evidence 

t ha t i t was f ul l y insta l led on May 31, 197 8 . Antle r then began 

work on th e storm sewe r at a poin t be twe en manho les 15 and 16. 

•rhey did only a smal l se gment and t hen le ft t he j ob. The work 

whi ch Antl er d id car r y out a t tha t tr en ch appears t o have been 

done in l ess t han a day, as t he evidenc e i ndic ates that Antler 

s tarte d on t he s to rm sewer on June 5 , 1978 , and le f t the jo b t he 

same da y , and did no t retur n . I assume that be twee n May 31 and 

J une S ther e was some de l ay awaiting pip e but t he evidence on t h i s 

poi nt is not clear. Mr. Knu tts on ·te s ti,f i ed that the s anit ary 

sewer was finis hed by mid June , 1978, but t hi s appears to be out 

of harmony wi t h oth er acce ptable evid ence that Antle r l ef t t he 

jo b on ,June 5, 1978 . The s t orm sewer spe c i f icati ons called for 

18 i nch pip e . As ea rl ier st ated , Mr. Knut tson test i fied tha t 

Antler had insta lled 18 inch p ipe . 1' his was shown to be in co r rect . 
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Antler put in 10 inch pipe . .l\s Mr. Byl concedes, there was no 

in t ention on Mr. Knutt so n ' s pa r t t o mis l ea d t he cour t. I think 

he unintentional l y fell into t his error because Antler had no 

re cord or d ocumenta tion o f what had actually occurred during 

this time. On cr oss -ex amination, he s tat ed that t he surveyor had 

told him to put i n 10 inch pipe. He further testified t hat Mr . 

McTag gart , th e city inspec tor, t o ld Antler to tak e out t he 10 inch 
' 

pipe . But Ant l er eit her neglec t ed or declined to do so. 

Mr . Kovachich testifies that he examined t h is partic ul ar 

storm sewer ditc h between manho le s 15 and 16. He ha d watched 

i t being dug by Antler before i ts c re w left. He sai d it took 

them onl y f our hours to do t he j ob . lie e stimated that it was 

no more tha n two · fee t in t o the ground, and as he was concerned 

abo ut frost, he ca ll ed Mr. Dennis about his concern. He fur t her 

test i f i es tha t af t er Ant ler had l eft th e j ob on J une 5, 1978 , t he 

10 i nch p i pe in t hat tre nch was r eplaced by Bac h in sk i with an 18 

inch p i pe in what he believes wa s a di ffe rent ditc h in August or 

Sep tembe r . In g i ving this ev ide nce Mr . Kovachi ch's memory was 

ai ded by reference t o entries he bad made in his dia ry at the t ime . 

Whi le in t he wi tnes s bo x wit hout his reco rds , Mr. Bachins ki co uld 

not reca l l whet.her he had to redig that particular tre nch. 

' I acce pt th i s evide nce and find as a fact that t he said 

trench was excavated to no mor e than 2 fee t. 

After di gging thi s short se gmen t of storm sewer trench 

Antl er , as sta t ed, did no mor e wor k under i ts con tr act . Mr. Knutt. son 

t es t ifi e s that t he re had been so many de la ys t ha t Antler had t o 

quit to go to o t her jobs. Mr . Kovachich testif ie s that he did not 
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approve of this deci si on but he understood t ha t Antler need ed its 

key personnel on ot he r j o bs, and assented . 

An allega tio n in t he statement of def ence t hat Antler 

ha d abandoned the project wa s with d rawn by the pla i ntif f. My 

finding therefo r e is that the contract was termina t ed by mutu al 

agreement of the pa rties before i t was substantially comp l eted. 

The job was taken over for K9vachich by Mr. Bac hinski, carrying 

on business as B & M Hol dings. He ins ta l led th e storm sew er and 

completed th e j ob a bout the end o f Augu s t , 1978. When he took 

it over he did not have some of the n ecessary men or eq uipment 

to do t he work, and I expect that it was ne cessa r y f or him to take 

some tim e in prepar ing for the job . Antler "re nted out" to Kovachich 

th e ir man-hol e sp ecia list, Mr. Unterhoffer , with hi s truck an d th e 

backhoe operator, Mr. Nyberg , and the l a ser . 

On Septem ber 1 , 1978, the defend a nt f irs t arranged f or 

gravel to be placed on top of the util it ies . 

On the evide nce I am unable t o c onclude that the d e sign 

change was th e cause of any serious delay t o t he plaintif f . Antl er 

was anxious to l ea v e f or oth e r j obs. Viewed in this light perhaps 

an y delay wou ld be regarded as a matt e r of concern to this contractor 

bu t which would not normally be regarded as serious delay. In 

my view there was no such delay on the part of th e defendant 

su ff icien t to constitute a breach of con t rac t on the de fe ndan t' s 

pa r t. The cont ra c t di d no t specify a date f or completion . I t 

was a contrac t t o instal all th e utili tie s f or the subdivisi on 

' fo r a readily asce rtainable sum. Clause 6 pr ovided f or pa yment 

to be made upon completi on of t he work . In my judgment it was 
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an entire contract and carried an implied undertaking by the 

contractor t o complet e t he whole of the project. A u t ility 

project for a subdivision left without a storm sewer would be useless . 

In this case , but f or the good grace o f M1:. Kovachich, Antler 

might well have f aced a claim f or fail ure t o complete. Because 

of his assen t , however, the matter does not arise. 

On the ' evidence I am l ed to the view that the depth 
I 

speci f ication change for the sanitary sewer was in reali ty not 

of great concern to Antler at the time . No point whatever was 

made of it at the time. I find that Mr. Knuttson would ha ve been 

content with whatever extra remunera ti on woul d be forthcoming under 

the contract for the additional amount o f li near footage the 

rerouting would invo lve. 

The t~ne was fas t approaching fo r Antler to send its 

key men to o t her jobs. It was hiring fr om the union hall. It 

did not want to lose it s men. I infer, witho ut, I hope, ex t ending 

1,1 the evide nce beyond its na t u ral significance, that such delay as 

20 did arise out of the changed orders for the s i ze of the storm 

2 1 sewer pipes, was rea l ly t he catalyst that brought about Antler's 

22 decision t o leave the job at that stage in its unfinished state . 

23 ·Although t he p l aintiff at tri a l placed emphasis on its 

24 view of delay, there is no claim by Antler fo r additiona l money 

25 on account of delay. 

26 , The extra d igging alleged l y done by Ant ler f or th e san it ary 

27 sewer under the revised specifications a lle gedly involved additional 

costs to the plainti ff . It i s'those cla i med costs which are the 

sub j ect-matte r of Antler's c la im f or $13,653 . 69 for extras. 

30 
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This claim is evidenced by an undated in vo ice (Ex. l tab 8). 

It is not in dispute that no prio;i:- claim was made by the plaintif f 

upon Mr. Kovachich for paymen t of this claim, a nd that it was made 

an d sen t t o him in October, 1982 ; almost 4 1/2 years after these 

costs are alleged to have bee n incurred . 

It is clear on t he evidence of Mr. Knuttson that Antler 

had no intention to make suci;i a claim. He frankly states that the 

claim was made only because the invoi ces of September 12 , 1978 

(Ex . l tab 6a) for $60,046.19 and October 31, 1978 (Ex. l tab 7 

fo r $10,392 . 50) had not been paid . A number o f items on these a cc oun ts 

are in d i spute in the present case. 

The said invoice of October, 1982 (Ex. l t ab 8) reads 

as follows: 

"Antler Construction Co. Ltd. 
P. o. Box 1629 

Prince George, B. c . 

Date 

TO Sy Kovachich 

INVOICE 

Manager: 
Mike Church 

19 

Extra costs incur red to Antler Construction Co, Ltd. due to 
rev i sions made in design of underground utilites as listed 
below: 

2200' o f 6" water main c/w hydrants, fi t tings and t hr ust blocks 
as per drawings: 
3 hydrant assembl ies 
2 main lin e te es 
5 main line gate valves 
2 - 90° bends 
l - cap 
2200 1 of 6'' @$7.00 per foo t = $15,500.00 

continued page 2 
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P age 2 .... 
Sa ni ta r y Sewe r Main s (Or i gi nal d e p t h z ones) 

Ex i s t . to M. H. 2 . 5 - 3 . 0 - 68 meters deep 
9 - 8 2 . 5 - 3.0 - 1 5 met e r s d eep 
8 - 7 2.5 - 3 . 0 - 85 meters deep 
7 - 6 2 . 5 - 3.0 - 97 . 5 me t er s deep 
6 - 5 2. 0 - 2 . 5 - 61 meters de ep 
8 - 4 2.0 - 2 . 5 - 92 mete r s deep 
4 - 3 2 . 0 - 2 . 5 - 88.5 meters deep 
3 - 2 2 . 0 - 2 . 5 - 84 me t ers deep 
2 - 1 2 .0 - 2.5 - 86 meters deep 

No drop manholes 

As Const ru cted Sani t ary Sewers 

84 t o 9 = 50 mete r s @ 6. 5 to 7 . 0 meters deep 
9 - 4 = 78 me t ers @ 4 . 0 4 . 5 met ers deep 
4 - 3 = 91 meters @ • 2. 5 - 3 . 0 meters deep 
3 - 2 = 83 mete rs @ 2. 5 3 . 0 met ers deep 
2 - l 86 meters @ 2 . 5 - 3. 0 meters deep 
4 - 5 = 9 2 met er s @ 4 . 0 4 . 5 mete r s deep 
5 - 6 = 8 4 mete rs @ 2.0 - 2 . 5 meters deep 
6 - 7 = 99 meters @ 2. 5 - 3 . 0 meters deep 
7 - 8 = 57 . 5 mete rs @ 3 . 0 - 3 . 5 meters deep 

As our q uotation was based o n i snta ll i ng (sic) th e sa ni tary 
was t o a maximum depth of 2 .5 met ers we ar e requesting payment 
fo r depth zones ove r 2 . 5 meter s as fo llows : 

2 .0 - 2. 5 = 84 m (275. 60 feet ) @ $ 7 .00 per foo t = $ 1 , 929. 20 
2 . 5 - 3.0 = 359 m (1 177 . 8 7 f ee t . ) @ $ 8 . 50 per fo ot = 1 0,0 11 . 89 
3 . 0 - 3 . 5 = 57 . 5 m (188 . 65 fee t ) @ $ 1 0.00 pe r foo t = 1,886 . 50 
3 . 5 - 4 . 0 = -- - -- @ $13 . 00 pe r f oot = - ---- ---
4 . 0 - 4 . 5 = 170 m (557.77 feet) @ $16 . 00 per f oot = 8 , 924.32 
4 . 5 - 5 .0 = ---- - @ $19 . 00 per foot = --------
5 . 0 - 5 . 5 = -- - - - @ $2 1. 00 per f oot = - - ---- - -
5. 5 - 6 . 0 = ----- @ $24.00 p·e r f oot = --------
6. 0 - 6 . 5 = ----- @ $27 .00 per foot = --------
6 . 5 7 ! 0 = 50 m (1 64 . 05 feet) @ $30.00 per f oot = 4,92 1. 50 

Tota l = 720 .5 m (2363.96 feet) = $27,673 . 41 

Sanitary sewer o r igina l con tr ac t = 2,363.96 x $7.00 = $ 1 6 , 547.72 

Sanitary sewer cha n g ed contract = (S ee above) 

I nc r ease du e t o c han g es ip sa n ita r y sewer 

= 27,673.41 

= $ 11 ,125 . 69 

co nt inued page 2 .. .. 
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Page 3 

The storm s ewer system had so many changes made to i t 
t hat we onlu (sic} i nsta ll ed the sto r m sewer between manhole 15 to 
16 and this was changed f rom 10" p i pe a t 2 meters dee p to 18" 
p i pe at 3 . 5 meters deep. 

Antler has invoiced for 158'@ 7 . 00 per foot, =$1 , 106 . 00 
Due to the greater depth and l a r ge r d i amete r 
Antler now want s 158 ' @ $16.00 per foot = 2,528.00 

Tota l due on s torm sewer insta ll ed =$2,528 . 00 

INVOI CE TOTAL ... . ... . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $13 , 653.69" 

Th is cla i m i s advanced on t he basis of a quan tu m meru i t . 

Mr. Curtis , in argume n t on be ha l f o f the p l a in tif f said : "The claim 

by i ts very natu r e has to be a cla im somewhat in the na tu re of a 

quantum meruit claim beca use i t i s an ex tra r eq ues t th a t was not 

pu t i n t he or i g in al qu o tation . : 

Mr. Byl , on be ha l f o f the defend ant, objects t o the c l aim 

being adva nc ed on this basis, on the g ro und that quantum rneruit was 

no t pl eaded . Couns el is correct . It is framed in the form o f a 

claim for money due fr om t he defendant to the pl ain t iff for wor k 

done and materials provided by the plaintiff f or t he de f endant at 

hi s r eques t . I t is a simp l e c l aim for debt . Thoug h a c i v i l debt 

is fo un ded on some co n tract between part i es, this plea d ing but 

i mperfectly reflects the rea l nature of this dispute . The word 

"contract " nowhere appears , and the r e is no ment ion o f a claim for 

extra s. The statement of c l a i m was filed on Dece mber 14, 1982 in 

close prox i mi ty to t he date of the invoice, (Ex . l tab 8). 

It must fir. st be pointed out that the claim appear i ng in 

t he i nvoice fo r $15,500 for al ~ eged extra costs in re ga r d to the 

wat er main was not claimed by th e p l ain tiff . Th is par t of the invoi ce 
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constituted a form of demand for $15,500 when it was receiv ed by 

the defe ndant in October, 1982. Mr. Knuttson's evidence as to this 

large portion of the invoice is that Ant l er made no charge becaus e , 

in fact, there was not much change in the water system . Kovach ich 

had already paid Antler $15,120 for 2160 ft . at $7 per foot per 

an invoice of June 1, 1978 (Ex. 4). 

No objection was taken until fina l argument to the 
I 

plai ntiff's fai lure to plead quantum meruit. No authority was 

cited on the question whether or not a claim for work and labour 

may be sufficient to cover a claim for remunerati on on that basis. 

It must have become apparent to Hr. Kovachich in Oct ober 1982 

(but no soon er) that the plaintiff's claim was f or extra costs. 

The first two lines of the invoice (Ex. 1 tab 8) reads : "Extra 

costs incurred to Ant ler Construction Co. Ltd. due to revisions 

made in design of underg ro und utili ti es list ed below:" 

Mr. Byl did not suggest that the plaintiff's failure 

specifica l ly to pl ead for its alleged add ition al costs on a quantum 

meruit basis resulted in prejudice or embarrassme n t in the cond uc t 

of the defendant's case . I must decline to g i ve effect to the 

objection. 

No objection was taken to the claim being advanced on a 

quantum meruit basis for on l y one por,tion of the work covered by 

the contract. There ,~as no submissio n that the alleged deeper 

digging was merely an ex t ension of work that the contractor was 

obliged to do under the contract . I wi ll accordingly treat wi t h 

the matter to accord with the manner in which th e case was conducted . 

Althoug h not so stated in argument i t seems eviden t 
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that the p l aintiff r el ies upon t he fo ut h ru l e suggested by Egbe rt, J 

in Re Chittick and Tay l or ( 1954) 12 W. W. R. 653 (S . C. Alta.) to 

determine what are "extras" within the meaning o f a bu il ding contract, 

as follows: 

"(4) I f t he contractor did work or supplied materials 
not ca l led f or by th e contract on th e instructions, exp r e ss 
or impli ed of th e owner, he is en t i tled to char ge for such 
add i t i onal work or materials as an ' e xtra'. What amoun ted 
to i nstructions from the defen dan t is dependent on t he 
ci r cumstances re latin g to each item ... " 

I t h i nk it is there made clear by Egbert , J. that t his 

rule in regard to i ns t ruct i on s is to be applied in rela t ion to 

the su r ro un d in g circumstances of the particular case. 

I d i d not have t he benefi t of any citation of a utho r it i es 

by e i ther counse l . Mr. Byl submits that in the c ir cumstances of 

the present case it woul d work a serious inj u sti c e to the defendant 

to entertain this claim . I agree. A decision rejecting the claim , 

however , must d epen d upon the app li cation of legal princip l e s to 

the f acts . There was no close argument on th e matt er . 

In commenti ng upo n th e cas e o f Re Chittick and Tay lo r , 

the learned author o f Hudson's Engineering an d Building Contracts, 

10th ed . makes the following observation at p. 507: 

" . .. t he authorisation or promise to pay can be inferred from 
mer e know l edge o f any acquiesence i n the pr oposed variation, 
provided it is realised or ought to be r ea l ised that a change 
of price is inten ded or pr obab l e as a consequence of the 
va r iation' ' . (my emphasis) 

and a t p . 545: 

"It is submitted that wher e work i s underta ken by a 
cont ractor at a given pri ce t he empl oye r wil l not, by asse n t i ng 
to or even re questing an alteration from t he original plan, 
r ender himse l f l iabl e to ,Ray ext r a for it, unle s s he is either 
express l y info rmed or must necessar i ly from the natu r e of the 
work be aware that the a l terat i on will in c rease th e ex pense, 
and even t hen the empl oyer wi ll no t be liab l e t o pay extra 



l • 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

JO 

11 

12 

I 3 

14 

15 

17 

19 

20 

2 1 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

30 

- 47 -

.Z\Jltler ke pt no r ec ords or documents o f its "ex t ra" charges and 

prese n ted none in attempti ng to prove its pecuniary claim. I n all 

the circumstances I am loath to i nfer that Mr. Kovachich mus t have 

bee n nece ssar ily aware t hat t he chan g es wou l d increase the expe nse 

to h i m, and there is no evidence from his e ngine er . His sur vey or 

was not questioned a bou t th e matter du ring cross-exam ina t ion . 

There were no s urve yors f i eld notes put in evidence. 

Ant l er 's i n vo ice of Jun e 1, 197 8 , (Ex. l tab 4) re ads : 

"Work performed to May 31, 1978 

1 . Wate r syst em - 2160' @ $7.00 per fo ot ------ $15,120.00 
2. San it ary sewers - 2372 ' @ $7 . 00 per foot---- $16,604.00 
3. Materials s upp lied as per attached list-- --- $44,53 3 . 61 

Total--- -- - ---- - - - -- -- ----- ----------- $76,257 . 61 

The defendan t paid this accoun t . Mr . Knu ttson made 

some attem pt t o show t hat in cha r gin g t he c on trac t price f or t he 

sanita ry sewer by t hat invoice Antler was re se r ving i ts right 

t o charge extra f o r t hat work, and was st ill r eserv in g i t whe n 

Antler accep t e d payment of $16, 604 as par t of t he a bove total. 

He said, in effect, t ha t he was waiti ng for the as- bu ilt plans 

so that he could ascertain what extra work Antler actually had 

done. Ant ler did no t know . It had no re cords of any extra wag e s 

fo r i t s workmen or f or machine costs a t tributab le to t he a lleged 

ext ra di gg in g . In my view Ant le r shoul d be p resumed t o ha.ve 

wa ived a cla im for e xtra cha rges at the t ime of i ts invoice o f 

June 1 , 197 8. 

The co ndu ct of th e p l aintiff fr om that ti me forward for 

4 1/ 2 y ears sh ows that ther e i's a missin g element . The r e was no 

in t en t , real o r im p li ed , th at any wor k done by way o f d eeper digging 
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sho uld give rise to an enforceab le vig'ht to additiona l payment . 

The conduct of t he plaintiff clear ly shows that from the time it 

r ec eived the information showing the varia tions , it carried out 

the work without objection.. Not bef ore October , 1982, a f ter 

4 1/2 ye ar s, di d the plaintiff affec t to regard the alleged extra 

diggi ng as ex tra work outside and over and a bov e t he contract. 

Mr. Knutts on admits that Antler's bill for extras was rendered, 

in Oct ober , 19 82, for the so le purpose of giving Antler additional 

bargaining power in t he matter of t he defendant's un pa id ac coun t. 

There was no sugge stio n that Antle r demanded compensation for 

extras purs uant to any agreement, express or implied , which it 

th ought had been created in any way betwee n i t and t he defendant . 

I t 1s con duct was an in terrorem ac t ha vi ng nothing to do with an 

agreement , express o r implie d. 

When the defe nd ant told the contractor t here woul d be 

a cha nge i n pla ns and when the contractor thereafter worked under 

t he chan ged plans nobody too k a position . The contractor acted 

i n a manner inconsistent wi t h t he concept of an express or implied 

ag reemen t for extras . In Pe t er Kiewit Sons ' Company of Canada Ltd. 

[ l 9 6 0] S . C . R. 3 61 , 2 2 D . L . R. ( 2 d ,)I 4 6 5 , ( S . C . Can . ) Ju d son , J . 

speaking for t he majority, refers at p. 482 (D.L. R. ) t o a passage 

from Win f i e ld on th e Law of Quasi Contracts , 1952 , p. 52, wherein 

it i s st ated that the obligation sued upon under a quantum meru it 

is genuinely contractua l, no t qua si - con t rac t ua l . The present 

case is one in which t he contract or, alth ough no t bound to do so, 

' d id accede to a req uest to do the work ca lled for by the design 

change . I n the normal co ur se this would ent i tle the contractor 
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to be paid for such additiona l work but in the pres en t case the 

ev idence shows tha t the con t rac tor vo luntarily waived such en t itl ement. 

The p lai ntiff ' s c l a i m f or additional work i s advanced 

on th e bas is of quant um meruit . It is well-s et t l ed law that 

s uch a c l aim must depe nd upon a n ew cont r act, expre ss or implied, 

for that work. I n every contrac t there must be agreement , express 

or impl i ed . .Mere agreeme nt, wi thout any intent , rea l or i mpli ed , 
I 

t o be bound at la w, does not give rise to an enforcea b le r i gh t. 

The re was no express request by Kovac hich or his ag en t s 

f or extra work. The claim for extras is made on the basis of 

imp li ed co nt ract in ferred f r om t he conduc t or pre sumed inte nti on 

of the pa r t ies. 'l'his presumed in tention or acceptance o f work 

ra is es a pr esumption tha t a contract was made, but in e i t her cas e , 

like any other presumption, it may be rebu tt e d and d is placed by 

t he par ticular ci rc umsta nc es of the case: 8 Ha ls. 3d ed . p . 225 

par a. 389. 

Even i f a co ntra ct can be impl ied in this case, th e 

cont ractor mus t prove its additional cost by fixi ng th e pric e of 

work not prov i ded for in th e p l a ns and specificati ons. Th is price 

re presents th e actual cost o f work in addi tion to th at pr ovided 

for in the pla n s a nd s pe cif i cat ions : See Corpex (1977) Inc. v . 

(my emphasis) The Queen i n Right of Cana da , ( 1984) 6 C. L.R. 221 

at p. 24 6 , per Beet z , J. (S.C. Can.). 

26 • The extra digging allege d ly don e by th e plainti ff does 

27 no t become t ra n slated into an extra becaus e th e defendant was 

28 

9 

3U 

withhold in g payment of a d i spu t ed invoice. The defenda n t felt 

jus tifi ed i n assuming that when he paid f or t he sa n itary sewer 
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wor k shown on t he i nvo ice o f J une 1, 19 78, at the co ntra ct pric e , 

he had no fu r ther obl ig ation to pay an y more f or t he ins tallat ion 

of t he san itary s ewer. 

By i t s invo ic e of Oct obe r , 198 2 , the plaintif f pu rpo r t s 

to charge the differen ce betw ee n the contra ct pr i ce of $7 per 

lin eal fo ot and a se r ies of rates ra nging from that very contract 

pri ce t hro ugh to $8.50 exca ~ating to $30 per foot. 

These figures do not come f rom any records or ledger 

made up by Antl er at t he t i me, but purport to be based upon Antler's 

customary charges. The evidenc e in support o f this was lam entably 

sparse . I t consis t ed solely of the fol lowing undocumented bare 

asser ti ons by Mr. Knu ttson. He said this: "The rates range f ro m 

$8. 50 per foot to $30 per foot for va ryi ng de p ths and al l thes e 

rates are l ower than what we ch arge t he Ci ty of Pr ince George ". 

And t his: "$23 a foot is what we charged on Iiart High way work 

for similar wor k". Abse n t any evidence of suc h so - called si milar 

work . The court ca nno t acc ep t this as proof· J of a re ason able p r i ce . 

The next problem concerns th e disputed issue of t he 

proof offe r ed by Ant l er of the depths it allegedly ex cav ated as 

shown in its invoice (Ex . 1 tab 8) . This is a c la im fo r al l eged 

actual digging. The plainti f f ~aintains t hat a t t he time o f 

constructi on i t actually exc avated to th e deeper depth zones fo r 

the sanitary sewer it now cla ims . The de f en da nt disputes th e 

p l a inti ff • s fi gures. 'l'he evi dence as to proce dure fo llow ed the 

plain ti f f in i t s attemp t to pr ove :iFts claim and by t he defendat 

' i n attemptin g to prove i ts co un te r c laim occupied a good portio n 

o f t he time on t h i s t rial . I i nt end to deal with it as breefly 
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as poss i b l e . 

Exhib i t 3 are the as- bui lt p l a ns . Ex h ib it 2 ar e th e 

o r ig i na l plan s upon whi ch Antle r ba s ed i ts bid . Both o f t hose 

exh ibit s were e nt e r ed on c on s en t of c oun s e l a 't the outset of the 

tri a l. F or t ha t reason I th ink i t is t oo l at e fo r Mr . By l to obj ec t 

t o th e us e o f th e s e p l an s . Exh ib i t 6 a re the re v ised p l a ns . 

The we r e not e ntere d on co n se n t . ~/hat ev e r may be said a s to t he 
I 

we i gh t to be give n t o ev id en ce based on Exs. 2 and 3 tha t ca l c ul a ti on s 

mad e f rom a ll t he p l a ns a r (;! of li t t le va l ue , I thi n k Mr . By l' s 

objec t ion is a valid on e i n r eg a rd t o Ex. 6 . Ther e was no ev i denc e 

to show t hat t ho s e p l ans we r e r e asonably accur at e a s t o any pa rt 

of t he,-n. They a l l sho w the r eon t ha t t hey we r e dra wn by one "J . P ." , 

and cert if ied by Mr. Denni s, who i s not a party t o t hes e pr oceed in g s. 

The p l a i n tif f made n o attem pt t o pr ove h is cla i m f or 

extras unti l l ong a f t er t he pipe s were la id and t he pr o je c t was 

c ompl e t ed a nd t he s t reet s we r e p 11v ed . 

Te l e sc oping th i s ev id en ce i n t o ma nagea b le pr oportio n s , 

t he p r ocess f ol l owed by Mr . Knu t t so n a nd t he pla i n t i ff ' s e xper t 

wit ness , Mr . McTagg ar t wa s alon g thes e l i nes. The ob j ect wa s to 

t r y t o c al cu l a t e t he d epth of each man ho l e at t he t i me o f construct io n . 

'!' hey use d t h e a s - buil t p l ans, th e p r elimin ary pl an s, and t he 

rev i sio n pl ans (Ex . 6) and mad e ela bor at e ca lc u l a t io n s t he r efrom . 

After c ompa rin g Ex . 3 wi ·t h Ex . 2 , t h e a s - buil ~ p l ans , Ex . 3, we r e 

t he n c ompared wi t h th e unve r i f i e d r ev i sio n p l an (Ex . 6). '!' he 

co nclusion wa s t ha t whi l e thi s will disc l os e t he f i na l de pth 0£ 

the ma n ho l es n ow it ca nn ot give bett er th a n an e sti mate of th e 

de p t h d ug by t he co n trac t o r at t he t ime t he co nt rac t o r excavat ed . 
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The reason, as I a tt emp ted to follow it, was that on the 

preliminary plan some co n tou r grade elevations are indeed s hown 

but onl y at about five feet in te rva l s, ac cord ing to the figure s 

th ereo n . In that case, one woul d n e ed to make a num ber of assumption s 

as to what t he contours are i n between . 

'l'here - is no ev-idence that t he contours on th ose p lans 

are those drawn by a land s~rveyor. They wer e ev id ent ly prepared 

by the engine er . This casts doubt on their accuracy . In orde r 

to obtai n the actual depth of excavation at the t i me of construction 

one would need to know what the contours above t he pipes were 

originally at that time. One would nee d verif i ed surveyor's 

i nformation as to t he g r ade at th e tim e o f construction for t he 

ca l culations t o be consi dered to be acc ·urate. 

There was no p rovision for ca lculation by this me thod. 

In my view t he p l aintiff ought to have i n formed the defen dant o f 

its int ention to p rove his claim i n this manner. Mr. Kovachich 

would then hav e had an opportunity to i nvolve his own expert in 

the pr ocess . I n v i ew o f th e forego i ng the pla i ntiffs demand for 

extra s as blaimed in Ex . l tab 8 i s disa ll owed in full. 

As i t was, when Mr. Kovachich received th is i nvo ic e 
• 

4 1/ 2 years af te r the event he made an effort on his own to ref u te 

these figures. He ·fixed a t ape measure to calculate the dep t h 

of each man hol e , t aki ng into accou n t the pavement, crush and grave l 

on top. His ,object was to show that Ant ler's figures were wrong. 

According to his calcu l ations they wer e wrong, and it was on h i s 
, 

figu res t hat he ente r ed his counterclaim for th e cost o f th e 

gravel he had c aused to be pu t over top o f th e utilit i es . 
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There is no evidence from any city official to show that 

the gravel he bought was made n ecessary due to the fai lu re of 11 

Antle r to adhere t o th e p l a n s . He was unable to say that Antl er 

breached the contract in that respect. He was not a ble to say 

what gravel was ex tra grave l a s opposed to gravel he had unde r taken 

to pu t over the pr oject at the start . 

It may be that he 1was called u po n to get more gravel 

than h e an t i cipated because the native mat erial excavated out of the 

trenches may not have been approved f or his roads. So far as 

appears on the evidence it may be that he ha d to import new mate ri al. 

He did not cover this point in evidence. 

The only way that the defendant can show t hat Antler was 

neg ligent or i n breach of contract wou ld be to provide proof that 

Antler f ai l ed to fo llo w th e i n formation on the stakes or on the 

plans as t his he failed to do. 

•rhe defendan t' s counterclaim must t here f ore f ai l, with 

one qualification. I am convinced t ha t from testimony adduced 
. 

by Mr. Kovachich on cross-examination that t he plainti ff v~rtual l y 

admits that he bought , hauled and paid for 40 00 yards ,of extra 

grave l fo r whi cn the defendant is entit le d to be compensat ed . 

The evidence shows that t he price o f gravel was 50 ce n ts per yar d 

for a total und e r that head of $2000. But Mr. Kovachich gave 

ev idenc e tha t the j ob also requires hau l ing , lo ading , deliver i ng, 

and spreading the gravel . The only evidence before me of a re ason­

ab l e amount f or this extra outlay is f ound in def endant's exhibit 7 

' tab 11 whi ch shows a truckin g charge of $35 per l oad. For 400 

load s this would amount to $16 , 000. In add i tion t here are t he 
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s p reading and othe r forms o f expense a bove mentio ned . It is 

difficult to determ in e the proportion of the total sho ul d b e 

paid by t he p l ai n ti f f . I wi ll, somewhat arbi t rarily, allow to t he 

defendant on his coun t erclaim here und er an .add i tional $2,500 for 

a t otal o f $4,500. 

I mus t now deal with the remaini ng d i spu t ed c lai ms 

(Ex . l t ab 6a,b) . 

I now tur n to t he items l isted on Antler~ firs t unpaid 

inv o i ce dated September 12 , 11978 , total l ing $60 ,04 6 . 19 (Ex. 1 

t ab s a and b), made up of n ine items f or whi ch the plainti ff cla i ms 

paym en t . 

Item l: Clearing r i ght-of-way and co rr ecting road - $716 . 74. 

The partic ul ars g iven on page 2 of Ex. l tab 6b are: 

Clearing r ight of way for storm se wer and sanitary sew er 
at east end of su bd i v i s i on an d corr ectin g roa d location on east e rly r oaa . 

D-6 dozer 5 hrs. @ 
235 backhoe 4 h rs . 
Hiab 2 hrs@ $45 

$50 - $200.00 
@ $80 - $320.00 

$90 . 00 
Lowb ed 2 hrs @ $35 
Labourer 2 hrs@ $18.37 

$70.00 
$3 6 .74 

$7 1 6.74 

The ob j ection to this c l aim is as to the amount and to 

the use of a l ar g e 235 ba ckhoe and DC6 Cat . Mr . Kovachich testi f i ed 

that he had obse r ved Mr . Bachinski do similar work in the sam e 

sort o f terrain in the subdivision with a small e r 450 machi ne in 

ha l f t he t ime . Thus the low bed, etc wer e unnece ssary. Mr . Knuttso n 

said the 4 hours labourer cos t at $50 pe r hou r and 4 hours at 

$80 per hour d i d not necess a rily repres ent the actual wor k in g time. 

' He said that i f a unio n man is called out to work at all he is 

guara n te ed 4 ho urs work , no matter how lo ng he works . Mr . Bach i nski 
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was not able to say wnether or not h i s 450 John Deere could have 

done the j ob. •rhere is evidence earlier mentioned that Kovachich 

prote sted the use of this la rge machinery at the tim e a nd at the 

February, 1979 meeti ng . There is no evide nce of what work Ant l er 

would have done, if any, cle ar ing t he sou t h - east corner of the 

property under its contract . I have some disquiet about t h is 

claim . But I heard no argu[)lent as to t he matter of t he union 

rates c harged to the defendant and Buchinski's e vidence did not 

confirm the p l aintiff' s evidence. With some reluctance I will 

allow th i s cl ai m. 

Item 2 : Ren t a l of 235 backhoe for deep services - $1,200. 

The claim here is by t he plaintiff for the ren tal to 

y tl" • • 
Bachinski of the la rge 235 backhoe to put,- service connections 

at $80 per hour. The defe ndant co n ten d s that th i s is a duplicat ion 

o f a bill dated August 10, 19 78 (Ex. 7 tab 9) from Antler to 

Bach inski for overtime rental of the backhoe totalling $537. 68 . 

Bach i n ski was employed by Kovachich as an independent contractor . 

Kovachich pa i d the $537 . 68 bill to Bachinski. The bil l o f August 

10 states tha t i t was for rental on May 30 , 31 , and June 1st, 1978. 

I am not satisfied with the explanation for the con f us io n regarding 

this item and it is disallowed. 

Item 3: Hauling and unloading of materials - $7,476.20 

This item is admitted by the defe nd ant . All owed. 

Item 4 : Digging t he storm sewer manhole 15 t o 16 - $1106 . 

On earlier evidence as to this i tem and i n view of the 

' e rro ne ous charge t he plaint iff made in t his regard, I conclude it 

will be appropriate to disallo w this item. Disallowed . 
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Item 5: Rental o f 225 hoe f o r sto r m s ewe rs - $7,690.83 

Af t er Ant l er l ef t th e job i t rented out eq ui pment f or 

use by Bachinski to fin ish the j ob bu t on t he basis the char ges 

woul d be paid by t he defen dant. The dispute on t his item in volv e s 

a ll bu t $7000. I t is said tha t $690 . 83 t he r eof was paid to 

Bachinski an d t hat there is an overlappi ng . I must reje ct this. 

Bach insk i was l eft in charge of t he job during t he summer of 1978 

and the defendan t mai nta i ns that there was an agreement betw ee n 

him and Knu t tson that no charges would be accep t ed by h im unless 

they carr ie d Bach inski's s i gna tu re. Bach in ski was not ab l e to 

con f ir m t h is. In e f fe ct, h e did not re c al l t he matter . I find 

th a t the condi t ion ass er ted by the defendan t has no t been proved . 

This c laim i s allowed . 

Item 6: Supply manhol e man a nd truck - $2,209.60 

It ,~as agreed the def endant would pay Antl e r for the 

services o f Unt er hoffer, t he manhole e xp er t, t o assis t the defendant 

to finish the pr oject . The objec t io n here is that his work sli p s 

were no t signed by Bach inski. For th e reasons given above I 

allow this c lai m. 

It em 7: Ren t a l of laser beam - $630 

'!'his item is admitted an d is allowed. 

I tem 8: Mat eria l s supplied to p rojec t - $24,516 . 34 

Th i s i s admi tt ed and is al l owe d . 

I te m 9: Hand li nq and profit of materials - $14,500.48 

For reasons e arlier se t out t h is c laim is a ll owed . 

' To s ummarize the above find ings and the re su l ts thereof, 

the p l aint i f f sued the def enda n t s for a total o f $84 , 092 . 38 . 
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I have found that liability rests upon the pe r sona l d efendant, 

Savo Kovachich. This claim of $84,092 . 83 wa s made up as follows. 

Under the Septembe r 12, 1 978 invoice (Ex. l tab 6a) the pla i ntiff 

c l a i med $60 , 046 . 19. I have disallowed item 2 of $1200 and item 4 

o f $1100 for a total ded uction under that head o f $2306 . On th i s 

inv o ice the p l a i ntiff succeeds in the net amount of $57 , 740.19. 

Unde r the invoice of October 31, 1978 (Ex . l ta b 7) 

t he plaintiff sued f o r $1 ·0 , 392 . 50 . The claim o f $227 . 50 therein 

fo r diesel fuel was rejec t ed as abandoned. Under this head the 

plaintiff therefore recovers the net sum of $10 , 165 . 

Unde r t he i nvo i ce of October, 198 2 (Ex . l tab 8) the 

pla in ti ff s ued for extras of $13 , 653 . 69 a ll o f which I have 

d i sallowed . 

Th e net res u lt of the abov e calculations is an award o f 

$67 , 905.19. 

The defendant counterclaimed under its extra g r avel claim 

f or $29 , 60 9. 82 of whi ch I have herewith awarded him $4,500. This 

co u r t accordingly g i ves judgment to t he defendant Savo Kovach i ch 

agains t the plaintiff in the amount of $4,500 together with costs 

to be t axed . 

The court hereby awards j udgment to t he plaint i ff aga i nst 

the d efendant Savo Kovachich in the amoun t of $67,905 . 19 and cos t s 

to be taxed . 

The sai d amou n t of $4500 together wi t h cos t s shall be 

set -o ff against the plaintiff ' s judgmenc and t axed costs. 

' In rega r d to co s ts , and for the assis t an c e of the taxing 

officer I am of the opinion and hold that there sho ul d be no 
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costs to either party for costs in re gard to that portion of the 

tria l ta ken up with the allied q uestions of proof by the plainti ff 

of its costs f or extras and th e de f endant ' s proo f of its coun t er ­

c l aim for extra gr avel. It is clear that the plaintif f made this 

cl aim only becaus e the defenda nt had not paid its previous ac coun ts , 

much of which he disp uted . On the other ha nd, the defendant made 

no protest or demand for th~ e xtra gr ave l c l aim until he was sued 

in October, 1982 for extras. It was a tit for tat situation. 

All costs will be taxe d on a party and party scale. 

The claim against the corporate defendant, Sy Kovachich 

Holdings Ltd. is dismissed wi th costs. Under Rule 57(11) it wi ll 

be appropriate to order that the c ost s of the unsuccessful defendant, 

Sav o Kovachich, shall pay the cos ts of the successful de f endant . 

This accords with the submissions of couns e l on this poi n t . 

The question of court order interest has caused me 

considerab l e concern. No action was taken by t he pla in tif f until 

4 1/2 years after the cause of action arose . However , I have 

reached th e conc lu sion that t he appl i cable rates should be in 

ac cor dance with t he registrar's rates preva ilin g from t ime to time 

to th e date of judgment. 

On the f irst portion of the claim above noted the date 

will run f rom October 31, 1978 . On the secon d portion of the claim 

i t wil l ru n from December 1 , 1978 , and on t he counterclaim from 

November 30, 1982. Cou nsel are a t lib er ty to speak to me, ho~1eve r, 

as to this por t ion of this judgme nt. 


